GIOMS

Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences





ORGANIZATION ACTIVITIES MEMBERS



CIOMS Geneva

ISBN 92 9036 058 5

Copyright © 1994 by the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS)

Any part of this publication may be reproduced on condition that the source is mentioned.

Printed in Switzerland

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| INTRODUCTION | 5 |
|---|--|
| ORGANIZATION | 8 |
| ACTIVITIES | 11 |
| Bioethics and Health-Policy Ethics | 11 |
| International Guidelines and Declarations | |
| Protection of Prisoners Against Torture Biomedical Research Involving Animals Human Genome Mapping, Genetic Screening and Gene Therapy Epidemiological Studies Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects A Global Agenda for Bioethics | 12 12 13 14 14 16 |
| Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values — An International Dialogue | |
| Indian Perspectives Battered Children and Child Abuse European and North American Perspectives Family Planning Islamic Perspective Health Technology Transfer Genetics, Ethics and Human Values Ethics and Epidemiology Ethics and Research on Human Subjects Poverty, Vulnerability, the Value of Human Life and the Emergence of Bioethics Impact of Scientific Advances on Future Health | 20 21 21 22 22 22 23 24 24 25 27 |
| Drug Development and Use | 28 |
| Monitoring and Terminology of Adverse Drug Reactions | |
| International Reporting of Adverse Drug Reactions Periodic Safety Updates Core Safety Data Sheets of Medicinal Drugs Harmonization of Drug Safety Terminology | 28 29 29 30 |
| Drug Surveillance: International Cooperation | 32 |
| Ethical Criteria for Medicinal Drug Promotion | 33 |
| International Nomenclature of Diseases | 34 |
| Conferences and Coordination of International Medical Congresses | 36 |
| Collaboration with the World Health Organization, Unesco and the United Nations | 37 |

| PUBLICATIONS | 38 |
|------------------------|----|
| MEMBERS | |
| International | 41 |
| National | 55 |
| Associate | 66 |
| Index of Organizations | 80 |
| Index of Officers | 87 |

INTRODUCTION

Long before there were international organizations of medical sciences and before medicine could claim to have a scientific basis, medical scholars travelled between countries and shared the information and views of their times with one another. However, it was not until the latter half of the nineteenth century that such exchanges were to be formalized by the convening in Paris in 1867 of the first of the International Medical Congresses. These congresses embraced the whole of medicine, and the published Transactions of the seventeenth and last of them, held in London in 1913, filled thirteen volumes. During the same period there have also been international congresses devoted to the older medical specialties — such as neurology and ophthalmology — in addition to an important series, starting in 1852, on hygiene and demography.

The end of the First World War made possible the renewal of such international medical activities, but it was apparent that all-purpose international medical congresses had had their day and must give way to meetings limited to special fields, the number of which had progressively increased in proportion to the growth of the medical sciences.

The international exchanges referred to above were sponsored by professions rather than governments. However, governments had also begun to enter the international health field by participating, beginning in 1851, in the series of International Sanitary Conferences that was to lead to the founding of the Office international d'hygiène publique in Paris in 1908. Afterwards intergovernmental health activities increased enormously, leading first to the creation of the Health Organization of the League of Nations and culminating in the creation of the World Health Organization (WHO) as a powerful instrument for promoting world-wide cooperation in health.

International health activities on professional and governmental planes are complementary, as recognized by WHO's establishment of official relation with approved non-governmental international organizations, but until after the Second World War professional international health activities lacked a focal point that would provide facilities for such coordination as would be desirable. In 1948 Unesco consulted WHO about the possibility of establishing a machinery to help in coordinating the planning and timing of international medical congresses. The result was an agreement between WHO and Unesco for the establishment of a permanent Council for Coordination of International Medical Congresses. The Council was formally constituted at a conference in Brussels in 1949 as a non-governmental organization, with financial assistance from the two parent organizations, WHO and Unesco.

The purpose of the Council was described as being to facilitate the exchange of views and scientific information in the medical sciences by securing continuity and coordination between international organizations of medical sciences, by making their work known, and by furnishing them with material aid where necessary. This was to be achieved through the exchange of information and by the provision of material and financial assistance to congresses and to their participants.

The scope of activities of the Council was gradually broadened to include other forms of international collaboration in medical sciences in addition to coordination of congresses. Consequently, in 1952 its name was changed to Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS) and its objectives were redefined as follows:

- ☐ To facilitate and coordinate the activities of the international association members of the Council;
- ☐ To act as a coordinating centre between the international associations, and the national institutions adhering to the Council;
- ☐ To maintain collaborative relations with the United Nations and its specialized agencies, in particular with the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (Unesco) and with the World Health Organization (WHO);
- ☐ To promote international activities in the field of medical sciences whenever the participation of several international associations and national institutions adhering to the Council is deemed necessary;
- ☐ To serve the scientific interests of the international biomedical community in general.

CIOMS was founded on the analogy of the International Council of Scientific Unions (ICSU), which had been established in 1931 and had received financial support from Unesco since the inception of that organization. ICSU includes in its membership international unions representing scientific disciplines including those basic to medicine, such as anatomy, biochemistry, microbiology and physiology. These disciplines, which are of fundamental importance to medicine, cover only certain aspects of medical sciences. Essentially, CIOMS was conceived as an organization to form a link between specialized international medical associations with research interests, analogous with the link that ICSU provides between international organizations of the basic sciences.

Until 1966 the activities of CIOMS were focused on the coordination of international medical congresses; grants and loans to member societies for the preparation of congresses and the publication of their proceedings; travel grants to young scientists, especially from developing countries, to attend medical congresses; organization of symposia on medical subjects; and assistance to member organizations for the standardization of nomenclature in various medical disciplines.

By 1966 political and technological developments were indicating new directions for CIOMS, at a time when for economic reasons it was forced to curtail some of its earlier activities. Large numbers of countries were achieving independence and faced with the task of determining health policies and building health services for rapidly growing population, with very inadequate resources. At the same time, biomedical scientific and technological advances were transforming the practice and potential of medicine, with unprecedented social and cultural, as well as ethical, consequences and implications. CIOMS as a non-governmental organization of medical sciences, with a mandate to collaborate with the United Nations and its specialized agencies, was in a position in provide a forum for representatives of different fields of medicine,

the natural and social sciences, philosophy, and law, as well as lay persons, to make explicit the ethical and other non-technical considerations to be taken into account in determining and implementing health policy.

into account in determining and implementing health policy.

The adoption by the World Health Assembly in 1977 of the goal of health for all was an assertion of the need for health policy to be informed by ethics and human values, indicating the particular field in which CIOMS could most appropriately complement the work of the World Health Organization, and a dominant theme of CIOMS activity since that time.

A particular aspect of biomedical technology — the development and use of drugs — became another dominant theme of CIOMS in complementing the work of WHO and serving the interests of the international biomedical community. Its independent status permits it to coordinate the contributions of research-based pharmaceutical companies, national drug regulatory authorities, and representative bodies of medical specialties to harmonizing and strengthening drug-safety surveillance measures. A prominent feature of CIOMS activity has been the clarification, mainly for developing countries, of the ethical issues involved in the use of human subjects in drug and vaccine research, and the issuing of international ethical guidelines on the matter.

ORGANIZATION

Membership

The Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS) consists of International, National and Associate members. Its international membership, consisting of international unions and federations of national associations and societies, represents a substantial proportion of the world's biomedical scientific community. National members are mainly medical research councils and academies of sciences. The membership of CIOMS in 1994 includes 72 international organizations and 30 national bodies.

General Assembly

The supreme body of CIOMS is the General Assembly, composed of representatives of all its members. At its triennial meetings, the General Assembly elects its President and its Executive Committee. It determines general policy and approves programme activities and financial reports.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is composed of the President of the Council, the Immediate-Past President, eight representatives of International members and six representatives of National members. It meets every year and reviews and determines programme activities.

Secretariat

The Council has a permanent secretariat headed by the Secretary-General, who is appointed by the Executive Committee. The secretariat is located in Geneva in offices made available by WHO, and in Paris office space is provided by Unesco.

Finances

The regular budget of CIOMS is derived from annual membership dues determined according to a scale of assessment established by the General Assembly. Programme activities of CIOMS are financed through contracts and grants from WHO and a wide range of foundations and funding agencies. In addition, WHO provides a small annual subvention to cover some administrative and office expenses.

CONFERENCES AND COORDINATION OF MEDICAL CONGRESSES COUNCIL FOR INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS INTERNATIONAL NOMENCLATURE OF DISEASES EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF MEDICAL SCIENCES CIOMS GENERAL ASSEMBLY SECRETARIAT DRUG DEVELOPMENT AND USE BIOETHICS AND HEALTH-POLICY ETHICS

CIOMS EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Officers:

President J.H. Bryant, Institute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A. Immediate-Past President F. Vilardell, Escuela de Patologia Digestive, Universidad Autonoma de Barcelona, Spain Honorary President A. Gellhorn, State of New York Department of Health, U.S.A. Vice-Presidents H. Danielsson, Swedish Medical Research Council H.-J. Hachen, International College of Angiology A. de Scoville, Comité des Académies royales de Médecine de Belgique Secretary-General Z. Bankowski

Members:

| International College of Angiology | HJ. Hachen |
|--|----------------|
| International Society and Federation of Cardiology | W. Rutishauser |
| International Association of Law, Ethics and Science | C. Byk |
| International Association for the Study of the Liver | J. Bircher |
| International Council of Nurses | T. Oguisso |
| Medical Women's International Association | C. Motzel |
| World Medical Association | I. Field |
| Comité des Académies royales de Médecine de Belgique | A. de Scoville |
| Union of the Scientific Medical Societies in Bulgaria | N. Natcheff |
| Czech Medical Association/J.E. Purkyne | J. Blahos |
| Islamic Organization of Medical Sciences of Kuwait | A.R. Al-Awadi |
| The Research Council of Norway, National Committee for Medical Research Ethics | J.H. Solbakk |
| Swedish Medical Research Council | H. Danielsson |
| Institute of Medicine, National Academy of Sciences of the United States | J.H. Bryant |

ACTIVITIES

To achieve its objectives, CIOMS has initiated and is coordinating three main long-term programmes: first, an international and intercultural dialogue on bioethics and health-policy ethics, designed to strengthen national capacities for addressing, and making decisions about the ethical and human-values issues involved in health policy, and to pursue deeper understanding of human values across cultural and political lines; second, the medical, social and economic implications of drug development and use, particularly to facilitate international assessment and monitoring of adverse drug reactions and the development of an internationally agreed terminology and classification of adverse drug reactions; third, the provision of an internationally agreed nomenclature of all diseases.

BIOETHICS AND HEALTH-POLICY ETHICS

The remarkable progress of biomedical sciences and biotechnology, and its application in medical practice, are confronting our societies with new ethical dilemmas, extending from traditional medical ethics to the new fields of bioethics and health-policy ethics.

Bioethics, concerned with ethical issues that arise from recent progress in biology and medicine, as distinct from traditional medical ethics, concerned mainly with the doctor/patient relationship, has been the subject of a remarkable surge of interest in the last two decades, both in developed and developing countries. Unlike traditional ethics, with its medical model, bioethics is interdisciplinary, reflecting the reality that medical choices can no longer be made purely on the basis of medical science. Bioethics differs from medical ethics also in that it incorporates a social dimension, being concerned with justice and rights, honesty and respect for human dignity, autonomy of the individual and respect for communities.

Health-policy ethics may be seen as an aspect of bioethics concerned particularly with the organization, financing and delivery of health care. The approach of CIOMS to bioethics and health-policy ethics involves multidisciplinary consultation with a broad range of biomedical specialists, as well as with legal experts, civic and religious leaders, and nongovernmental organizations concerned with human rights. In this role, CIOMS is uniquely placed to assist in and complement the work of the World Health Organization, since it forms a link between, on the one hand, intergovernmental organizations and, on the other, its affiliated societies, other professional groups, the academic world and lay interests.

The particular contribution of CIOMS in this field has been the issuing of international guidelines for the application of ethical principles in various fields and the organization of a series of international, intercultural conferences on health-policy ethics and human values.

The following are summaries of the main activities of CIOMS in relation to bioethics and health-policy ethics.

INTERNATIONAL GUIDELINES AND DECLARATIONS

Principles of Medical Ethics Relevant to the Protection of Prisoners Against Torture

In December 1982, at its thirty-seventh session, the General Assembly of the United Nations formally adopted Principles of medical ethics relevant to the role of health personnel, particularly physicians, in the protection of prisoners against torture or other cruel treatment. The Principles had been elaborated by CIOMS after comprehensive consultation and in 1979, when they were endorsed by WHO, were transmitted to the United Nations.

The Principles were derived from Guidelines for Medical Doctors concerning Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment in relation to Detention and Imprisonment, embodied in the World Medical Association's Declaration of Tokyo of 1975. They provide for the physician or other health worker responsible for the care of prisoners or other detainees an internationally accepted framework for judging whether a specific practice conforms with medical ethics. They postulate that physicians and other health workers are professionally trained solely to maintain or improve the health of those for whom they exercise professional responsibility, and that it is unethical to use their professional skills to allow action that may harm physical or mental health.

In 1983 CIOMS published Principles of Medical Ethics Relevant to the Protection of Prisoners Against Torture, and brought the document to the attention of all nongovernmental organizations concerned, requesting them to inform their members of its existence, contents and spirit.

International Guiding Principles for Biomedical Research Involving Animals

Animal experimentation is fundamental to the biomedical sciences, not only for the advancement of man's understanding of the nature of life and the mechanisms of specific vital processes, but also for the improvement of methods of prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of disease both in man and in animals. The use of animals is also indispensable for testing the potency and safety of biological substances used in human and veterinary medicine, and for determining the toxicity of the rapidly growing number of synthetic substances that never existed before in nature and which may represent a hazard to health. This extensive exploitation by man of animals implies philosophical and moral problems that are not peculiar to their use for scientific purposes, and there are no objective ethical criteria by which to judge claims and counterclaims in such matters. However, there is a consensus that deliberate cruelty is repugnant.

The Principles strongly emphasize that there should not be such restrictions as would unduly hamper the advance of biomedical science of the performance of necessary biological tests, but that, at the same time, biomedical scientists should not lose sight of their moral obligation to have a humane regard for their animal subjects, to prevent as far as possible pain and discomfort, and to

be constantly alert to any possibility of achieving the same result without resort to living animals.

The International Guiding Principles for Biomedical Research Involving Animals were published in 1989.

Human Genome Mapping, Genetic Screening and Gene Therapy — The Declaration of Inuyama

The ethical and human-values implications of research in human genetics, and particularly those of mapping and sequencing of the human genome, were comprehensively discussed at the XXIVth CIOMS Conference held in Tokyo and Inuyama City, Japan in July 1990.

At its final session, the conference agreed on a statement: The declaration of Inuyama, on human genome mapping, genetic screening and gene therapy,

which epitomizes the issues and the consensus of the conference.

The conference concluded that some of the public concern about the growth of genetic knowledge stemmed from misconceptions of the nature and uses of genetic technology, and that such misconceptions could be corrected by education of the public and open discussion. For the most part, present genetic research and services do not raise unique or even novel issues, but in view of their implications for reproduction and for personal health and life prospects, as well as the rapidity of bio-technological advances, there is a special need for ethical sensitivity in policy-making.

Some types of genetic testing or treatment not yet in prospect could raise novel issues — for example, whether limits should be placed on DNA alterations in human germ cells. Such alterations, as therapy or prevention, would be technically much more difficult than those affecting somatic cells and would affect the descendants of patients, but could be the only means of treating certain conditions, and therefore must remain under discussion of both

their technical and their ethical aspects.

The mapping of the human genome will greatly expand the scope of genetic screening and diagnostic tests, and it is in this regard that the welfare of those who are tested must be safeguarded, as the central concern: test results must be protected against unconsented disclosure, confidentiality assured at all costs,

and adequate counselling provided.

Genetic researchers and therapists have a responsibility to ensure that the techniques they develop are used ethically. By insisting on truly voluntary programmes designed to benefit directly those involved they can ensure that no precedents are set for eugenic programmes or other misuse of the techniques by the state or by private parties. One means of ensuring the setting and observance of ethical standards is continuous multidisciplinary and transcultural dialogue.

The needs of developing countries should receive special attention, to ensure that they obtain their due share of the benefits that ensue from the human

genome project.

The proceedings of the CIOMS Conference and the Declaration of Inuyama were published in 1991.

International Guidelines for Ethical Review of Epidemiological Studies

The scope and methods of epidemiological research, with its continually expanding potential for the collection, storage and use of data on individuals and communities, and with some inevitable tension between the rights and freedoms of the individual and the needs of society, have led to expressions of societal concern about the risks of abuse and to a demand for the consideration of the ethical issues involved. The need for special ethical guidelines for epidemiological studies has been accentuated by the HIV/AIDS epidemic and the commencement of clinical trials on candidate HIV vaccines and treatment drugs, involving large numbers of research subjects in many parts of the world.

National and international professional associations of epidemiologists have been examining these ethical issues, and some groups have begun to formulate ethical guidelines. However, no international ethical guidelines have yet been drawn up for epidemiological research and practice. In view of the obvious need to address, at the international level, the ethical issues raised by epidemiological studies, CIOMS, in collaboration with the World Health Organization, undertook in 1989 a project to develop such guidelines.

The Guidelines are intended for investigators, health policy-makers, members of ethical review committees, and others who have to deal with ethical issues that arise in epidemiology. They may also assist in the establishment of standards for ethical review of epidemiological studies.

The Guidelines are an expression of concern to ensure that epidemiological studies observe ethical standards. These standards apply to all who undertake any types of activity covered by the Guidelines. Investigators must always be held responsible for the ethical integrity of their studies.

It is recognized that formulating ethical guidelines for epidemiological studies will not resolve all the moral ambiguities that are encountered in everyday epidemiological research and practice. However, they can achieve several useful ends. They can draw attention to the need to consider the ethical implication of professional action; they can thus conduce to high professional standards in regard to both humane attitudes and quality of research.

The guidelines and proceedings of the CIOMS Conference were published in 1991.

International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects

Advances in biomedical science and technology, and their application in the practice of medicine, are provoking some anxiety among the public and confronting society with new ethical problems. Society is expressing concern about what it fears would be abuses in scientific investigations and biomedical technology and devises measures to protect against possible abuses.

The first international code of ethics for research involving human subjects the — Nuremberg Code — was a response to the atrocities committed by Nazi research physicians, revealed at the Nuremberg War Crimes Trials. Thus it was to prevent any repetition by physicians of such attacks on the rights and welfare

of human beings that human-research ethics came into being. The Nuremberg Code, issued in 1947, laid down the standards for carrying out human experimentation, emphasizing the subject's voluntary consent. In 1964 the World Medical Association took an important step further to reassure society: it adopted the Declaration of Helsinki, most recently revised in 1989, which lays down ethical guidelines for research involving human subjects. In 1966 the United Nations General Assembly adopted the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, which entered into force in 1976, and which states (Article 7): "No one shall be subjected to torture or to cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment. In particular, no one shall be subjected without his free consent to medical or scientific experimentation." It is through this statement that society expresses the fundamental human value that is held to govern all research involving human subjects — the protection of the rights and welfare of all human subjects of scientific experimentation.

In the late 1970s, in view of the special circumstances of developing countries in regard to the applicability of the Nuremberg Code and the Declaration of Helsinki, the Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS) and the World Health Organization (WHO) undertook a further examination of these matters, and in 1982 issued Proposed International Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects. The purpose of the Proposed Guidelines was to indicate how the ethical principles that should guide the conduct of biomedical research involving human subjects, as set forth in the Declaration of Helsinki, could be effectively applied, particularly in developing countries, given their socioeconomic circumstances, laws and regulations, and executive and administrative arrangements.

Proposed Guidelines received extensive distribution and, according to a later survey, went into use widely throughout the world, providing valuable ethical guidance in biomedical research involving human subjects. Survey respondents and other users indicated also that the guidelines should be reviewed with particular reference to the ethical issues raised by large-scale trials of vaccines and drugs, transnational research, and experimentation involving vulnerable population groups. A particular indication for their revision was the prospect of field trials of vaccines and drugs to control AIDS. Moreover, in recent years, many people, in developed and developing countries alike, have begun to see the beneficial and not only the threatening aspects of research involving human subjects; indeed such research, particularly related to innovative therapy trials, is now actively sought by potential beneficiaries. For some, participation in research is the only way they can gain access to valuable new treatment or even general medical care; for others, it is the means by which scientists will discover new knowledge that may lead to the prevention or treatment or even elimination of certain categories of disease and disability.

In the revision process special attention was also paid to epidemiological studies owing to the importance of epidemiology, particularly for public health.

After extensive consultation the first draft of the revised guidelines was presented to the CIOMS Conference on Ethics and Research on Human Subjects — International Guidelines, held in Geneva in 1992.

The draft guidelines were revised to reflect the consensus of the conference, but with due regard to minority points of view. The final text has been endorsed by the WHO Global Advisory Committee on Health Research and the Executive Committee of CIOMS, which have recommended its publication and wide distribution.

The text consists of a statement of general ethical principles, a preamble and 15 guidelines, with an introduction, and a brief account of earlier ethical declarations and guidelines. Each guideline is followed by a commentary.

The guidelines reflect the paramount ethical concern for vigilance in protecting the rights and welfare of research subjects and of vulnerable individuals or groups being considered as prospective subjects. The guidelines are designed to be of use, particularly to developing countries, in defining national policies on the ethics of biomedical research, applying ethical standards in local circumstances, and establishing or redefining adequate mechanisms for ethical review of research involving human subjects.

Certain areas of research do not receive special mention in these guidelines; they include human genetic research, embryo and fetal research, and fetal tissue research. These represent research areas in rapid evolution and in various respects controversial. Since there is not universal agreement on all the ethical issues raised by these research areas it would be premature to try to cover them in the present guidelines.

The mere formulation of ethical guidelines for biomedical research involving human subjects will hardly resolve all the moral doubts that can arise in association with such research, but the guidelines can at least draw the attention of investigators, sponsors and ethical review committees to the need to consider carefully the ethical implications of research protocols and the conduct of research, and thus conduce to high scientific and ethical standards of research.

The guidelines and proceedings of the CIOMS Conference were published in 1993.

A Global Agenda for Bioethics — Declaration of Ixtapa

The Council for International Organizations of Medical Sciences (CIOMS) held its XXVIIIth Conference, on "Poverty, Vulnerability, the Value of Human Life and the Emergence of Bioethics", in Ixtapa, Guerrero State, Mexico, on 17-20 April 1994. The Conference was organized in cooperation with the World Health Organization, UNESCO, the Government of Mexico, and the Mexican Foundation for Health. The 110 participants came from 22 countries, representing all continents. In addition to biomedical scientists and physicians, they represented a wide range of disciplines, including philosophy, economics, sociology, epidemiology, law and theology, and brought with them experience from hospital medicine, public health, universities, and the executive branches of governments. Through presentations and discussions in plenary sessions and in working groups, the participants reached broad agreement on a number of issues, and agreed to conclude their deliberations by issuing a Declaration setting forth a Global Agenda for Bioethics.

The participants at the Conference expressed their satisfaction at the substantial and substantive contributions made by CIOMS to bioethics, particularly through the International Dialogue on Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values during its first decade (1984-1994), and welcomed WHO's continuing partnership in this Dialogue; and they acknowledged, with appreciation the strong support accorded by Mexican Governmental and private institutions to the Conference.

1. General Points

1.1 Bioethics in the health sector should be guided by generally accepted principles, and in particular the following:

an adequate level of health care should be recognized as a universal and

fundamental human right;

• equity should be considered a foundational principle for health policy, and such policy should be based on the Alma-Ata principle of Health for All:

• health services should be effective, efficient, accessible, affordable,

compassionate, and socially acceptable; and

 mechanisms should be developed to ensure that communities are enabled to meaningfully participate in the development of health policy and services, and communities and individuals should be involved in determining the nature and quality of health care.

Bioethics seeks to define ways and means to ensure that health promotion and health care are in harmony with the protection of life and human values, particularly human dignity; the principles of bioethics entail concrete obligations on the part of international agencies, governments, health care providers, professional associations, and society at large, as well as individuals and specific groups of the population.

Bioethics recognizes that ethical norms and values differ significantly from culture to culture. At the same time, bioethics must seek to identify certain fundamental ethical principles that promote human rights and welfare and that can be applied across all cultures.

- 1.2 Efforts should be made to promote and strengthen the continuing development of national and international capacities for ethical analysis of current and emerging changes in health care affecting individuals and populations.
- 1.3 In certain countries and societies, women are rendered vulnerable or potentially vulnerable as a result of customs which may be prejudicial to their health and/or social well-being. Ethical analysis and appropriate remedial action can serve to enhance the status of women, and their personal health and well-being, wherever such a situation obtains.
- 1.4 With the development of relatively new methods for measuring the burden of disease on human life that constitute potential tools for guiding decisions for improving the cost-effectiveness (efficiency) of resource allocation and health planning, it is essential that the further refinement of these methods be guided

by the prinicples of equity and non-discrimination, on such grounds as age, sex, ethnic origin, personal status, etc., as well as efficiency, and that countries with an interest in applying these tools be provided with the resources for building capacities for undertaking these analyses in a manner consonant with national and local needs.

- 1.5 Efforts should be made to promote the further development of national and international protection of the most vulnerable; this will involve organizing and assisting individuals, groups, communities and governments at all levels to enhance their understanding of the causes and the circumstances contributing to different forms of vulnerability and their capacities for corrective action, and fostering a global sense of interdependence among all countries.
- 1.6 In light of the fact that bioethics has developed primarily, but not exclusively, in the most developed countries, there is a pressing need for the elucidation and universal adoption of basic bioethical principles, in a manner that acknowledges the world's diverse moral and cultural perspectives, priorities and values. A significant step towards this objective would be the setting up of bilateral and multilateral links, such as technical cooperation, exchanges and information, among institutions and professional societies dealing with bioethics in industrialized countries and their counterparts in developing countries; such associations would be mutually beneficial.

2. The Role of National, Regional and International Human Rights Bodies

- 2.1 Important opportunities exist for applying bioethics concepts in developing the content of human rights relating to health, health protection, and health care. Such rights can be clustered into three categories, viz:
 - rights to health care and to the benefits of scientific progress;
 - rights relating to information, association, and freedom of action that could empower groups to protect and promote their health; and
 - rights relating to self-determination and integrity of the person, including rights to liberty and security and the right to private life.

International and regional human rights treaties, as well as national constitutions, are designed to protect some or all of these rights, and establish mechanisms of accountability for violations of these rights.

3. The Role of Development Banks

3.1 The World Bank and the Regional Development Banks should consider the incorporation of bioethical perspectives into development project design and assessment, particularly as regards health, environment, poverty and education; ethical considerations should likewise be taken into account by these institutions in their health development and other related activities.

4. The Role of International Organizations

4.1 We invite intergovernmental organizations engaged in international health work to pay due attention to bioethical concerns in the planning and

implementation of their policies and programmes. Particular emphasis needs to be placed on the full involvement of all concerned, including scientific and lay organizations, in discussions on the ethical issues raised by the introduction of new health and biomedical technologies. These organizations could help, through international and regional meetings, to sensitize countries to pressing bioethical issues, notably those raised in the primary health care context, and to foster a North-South dialogue in this area, aimed at achieving broad universal consensus on the essential principles of contemporary bioethics and their implementation in the health and related sectors.

4.2 Such organizations as the appropriate United Nations agencies, CIOMS, the World Medical Association, the International Council of Nurses, the International Confederation of Midwives, the International Association of Bioethics, and the International Association of Law, Ethics and Science can play an important role in soliciting and promoting developing-country countributions to their work in the areas addressed by this Declaration. They can likewise serve to arouse the conscience of wealthy countries regarding their obligations to the developing world.

5. The Role of CIOMS

- 5.1 In recognition of its considerable experience in the field, we invite CIOMS to endeavour to monitor the impact of the International Dialogue on Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values on the emergence and sustainable development of bioethics, particularly in developing countries.
- 5.2 This Declaration should be distributed to the member organizations of CIOMS, as well as to other relevant international nongovernmental organizations. These organizations and their constituent national societies and associations are invited to give due attention to ethical considerations and issues.

HEALTH POLICY, ETHICS AND HUMAN VALUES — AN INTERNATIONAL DIALOGUE

This major CIOMS programme had its origin in the CIOMS International Conference, held in Athens in 1984, under the same title. The purpose of the conference was to discuss in an international and intercultural context the ethical questions raised by health policy-making and policy decisions. Health policies determine who are to receive health services, how resources are allocated, what criteria are used in setting priorities, what are acceptable forms of health care, when medical care should be begun and ended, and who should take part in making health policy.

These and similar decisions have important ethical components and implications, accentuated today by the remarkable scope and rapidity of

advances in science and technology and its application in medicine.

The Athens conference, planned in consultation with WHO, convened health policy-makers, ethicists and philosophers from the world's major cultural and religious groups, as well as secularists; the discussion covered the topics of equity, social justice, community participation, and the dignity of individuals in sickness and health, in the context of health policy-making.

A strong recommendation was for a continuing international intercultural dialogue to improve understanding of the relationship between health policy-making, ethics and human values in different cultures. CIOMS implemented this recommendation by undertaking in 1985 the programme entitled Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values — An International Dialogue, with the following objectives:

- to strengthen national capacities for addressing and making decisions about the ethical and human-values issues involved in health policy;
- □ to contribute to improved understanding of the concepts inherent in WHO's goal of health for all, particularly in terms of its values content;
- □ to develop transcultural and transdisciplinary approaches and methods for working in this field; and
- □ to use improved understanding of the approaches of various societies to the ethical and human-values aspects of health policy, as a way to promote deeper human understanding of human values across cultural and political lines.

The main means of implementing the programme is the organization of international, intercultural conferences with a global orientation. Some are regional conferences, concerned with the interaction of health policy-making, ethics and human values in culturally largely-homogeneous settings.

Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values — Indian Perspectives

The first conference in the framework of the programme, dealing with Indian perspectives, was organized in New Delhi by the Indian Council of Medical Research and co-sponsored by CIOMS. The 258 participants from 72 national organizations of India, representing a diversity of medical specialists, health policy-makers, and religious and political leaders, discussed a great variety of subjects of particular importance for India, such as population

policy, drug policy, medical education, primary health care, quality of life, meaning of life and suffering and death, and health policy planning and administration. The proceedings of the conference were published in 1986.

Battered Children and Child Abuse — International Recommendations

In 1985 CIOMS held a conference on Battered Children and Child Abuse, which formulated a set of recommendations for improving what was considered an alarming situation, to be implemented by national authorities

and international governmental and nongovernmental organizations.

Child battering — child abuse in general — is known to be widespread, differing in the forms it takes from one cultural setting to another, but always with medical, social, legal and ethical implications. Public awareness and concern about the problem, in both developed and developing countries, have been stimulated over some years by a dramatic increase in the numbers of reported cases of child abuse, as well as by a better understanding among the public and professionals of the may different forms it takes in different sociocultural settings. Although the reported increase has been particularly noticeable in the industrialized countries, it appears that the problem may be equally extensive but less diagnosed or reported in traditional, rural and agricultural societies.

The conference formulated a set of recommendations which, together with the highlights and proceedings, were published in 1986.

Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values — European and North American Perspectives

This conference, convened in 1987 by CIOMS, in collaboration with WHO, and co-sponsored by the Netherlands Ministry of Welfare, Health and Cultural Affairs, and the Institute of Bioethics of the Netherlands, brought together health policy-makers, ethicists and biomedical experts to consider the critical ethical issues raised by progress in biomedicine and, even in the richest countries, scarcity of resources and the need to reallocate them. The focus was on the industrialized countries, mainly in Europe and North America.

The programme was structured around four areas typifying the ethical and human values issues that confront health policy-makers: screening and counselling, with special reference to genetic engineering and interventions; organ transplantation, including patients' and donors' perspectives; health care of the elderly, with regard to limits of care and quality of life and aging; lifestyles and health hazards, mainly the issues of balance between individual choices and collective interests.

The recommendations of the conference were brought to the attention of the Fifth Summit Conference on Bioethics, entitled Human Genome Sequencing: Ethical Issues, held in Rome in 1988, and the recommendations of the latter were widely based on those of the CIOMS Conference.

The highlights and the proceedings, including the recommendations of the conference, were published in 1988.

Ethics and Human Values in Family Planning

Human reproduction can never be treated merely as an objective, technical subject. No religion and no ethical system has ever been indifferent to the issues involved in reproduction. The recent expansion of the needs for, and the means of, fertility regulation has inevitably raised a host of fundamental ethical concerns.

The complex ethical issues arising from advances in the management of infertility and in molecular genetics were the subject of a conference in 1988 convened by CIOMS, jointly with the WHO Special Programme in Human Reproduction, entitled Ethics and Human Values in Family Planning. Its main objectives were: to determine and clarify the ethical issues inherent in family planning from different national and cultural perspectives; and to stimulate transcultural discussion on the ethical issues by policy-makers, health professionals, scientists, ethicists and the public at large. The clarification of apparently conflicting issues was intended to help countries adopt socially and culturally acceptable policies in fertility regulation and family planning. Also, it was hoped to stimulate continued dialogue about these complex topics and encourage tolerance of different views among different cultures.

The conference examined the ethical issues comprehensively, in the light of social norms, legal codes and human values. The highlights and the proceedings of the conference were published in 1989.

Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values: An Islamic Perspective

In November 1988 CIOMS co-sponsored, with WHO, a seminar in Cairo, organized by the Islamic Organization for Medical Sciences, on Islamic perspectives of health policy, ethics and human values.

It had two particular advantages: it prompted the Islamic Organization for Medical Sciences to encourage leading Muslim ethicists and scholars to give major attention to the subject of health policy, ethics and human values; and it provided an opportunity for a number of leading ethicists and policy-makers from other countries, members of the CIOMS Steering Committee on the International Dialogue, to be present and to enter into a dialogue with their Muslim colleagues on these issues.

CIOMS published in 1989 Reflections on the Cairo Seminar, which indicates the content of the proceedings and illustrates the nature of the dialogue that took place between the Muslim scholars and their guest ethicists and policy-makers.

Health Technology Transfer — Whose Responsibility?

Advances in the basic medical sciences and their application to clinical medicine have opened the way to new therapies and numerous specialties, demanding new and more specific technologies. Medical research is resulting in new diagnostic, therapeutic and rehabilitative methods, and these have numerous applications in health care in all countries, rich and poor.

Health technology has moral implications and its transfer between different countries raises complex ethical issues. In developing countries large groups are denied the benefits of indirect health technologies (sanitation, housing,

nutrition, education), and have only very restricted access to direct health technologies. They are under heavy pressure to import modern medical technology, and to expend on it scarce resources for buildings, maintenance and staff. Health care technologies need to be assessed and regulated, therefore, but without stifling innovation or local initiative and research. Technology transfer has research implications also. New technology will continue to appear and countries must be prepared to deal rationally with the issues raised by technology transfer.

These and other related issues were discussed at a CIOMS conference entitled "Health Technology Transfer — Whose Responsibility?", held in 1989. The conference discussed the roles and responsibilities of the different parties at present involved in technology transfer, and the perspectives of the developers and users of health-care technology. It indicated the gaps between the offer and the need, and suggested means of bridging them, recognizing the different interests of providers and users, and the need for international collaboration.

The proceedings, including the main papers and a summary of the discussions and recommendations, were published in 1990.

Genetics, Ethics and Human Values: Human Genome Mapping, Genetic Screening and Genetic Therapy

Research at present under way into molecular genetics, and particularly into human genome mapping and sequencing, presages a new scientific era in the medicine of the 21st century. However, there is much concern about the implication of advances in human genome mapping, genetic screening and genetic therapy for the right and responsibilities of individuals and societies.

Efforts have begun in the United States of America, Japan and Europe to map and sequence the entire human genome. Over the next decade most of the genes in the human genome are likely to be identified. This knowledge will be important not only for diagnosing, treating, and even preventing diseases caused by single-gene defects but also for better understanding, and even treatment, of those major common diseases that result from the interaction of genetic predisposition with various environmental factors.

These scientific developments will raise difficult ethical issues. Increasingly, single-gene disorders will be diagnosable prenatally and postnatally. But there are questions about the extent to which prenatal screening should be implemented. At present, very few single-gene disorders can be treated. Even if gene therapy becomes feasible, it is very likely for many years to be limited to a few diseases. Hence, results of prenatal and postal screening will be used primarily for genetic counselling or for decisions regarding the abortion of affected fetuses.

Ethical issues are equally important in the case of multifactorial diseases. The possibility of detecting individual predisposition to a given disease must be weighed against the risk of misuse of this information.

Another ethical issue arises when genetic diagnostic advances come faster than advances in treatment. What is the use to an individual of knowing of a predisposition to a disease if there is no treatment? Can genetic screening be justified by the possibility of postponing onset of disease or of lessening its effects?

Other ethical issues include: the extent to which research should be controlled, and who should control it; whether misuse of the knowledge acquired can be precluded, and how; how it will be possible to predict the consequences of genetic intervention and to avoid or mitigate the unacceptable; who should own or otherwise benefit commercially from the products of genetic research; how and from whom is consent to be obtained for genetic interventions, particularly if they may affect future generations; and how are privacy and confidentiality to be protected.

It was in this general context that the XXIVth CIOMS Conference was held in Tokyo and Inuyama City, in July 1990. The Conference, which was cosponsored by WHO, UNESCO, and the Science Council of Japan, was designed to stimulate an international, interdisciplinary and transcultural dialogue on the ethical implications of research in molecular genetics, and particularly those of the mapping and sequencing of the human genome. The proceedings of the conference, including The Declaration of Inuyama, were published in 1991.

Ethics and Epidemiology: International Guidelines

The potential of modern epidemiology, especially for the collection, storage and use of information, carries with it risks of abuse and gives rise to a certain tension between the rights and freedoms of individuals and the interests of society. These issues are particularly germane to developing countries, which are less well placed than developed countries to prevent abuse or to assure for their people the beneficence of epidemiological research. CIOMS has responded to suggestions of professional epidemiological associations and the World Health Organization, by undertaking a programme of widespread consultation to develop international guidelines for ethical review of epidemiological studies. The need had become pressing because of the special problems raised by the HIV/AIDS epidemic and the imminent commencement of trials of candidate HIV vaccines and new treatment drugs.

It was in this general context that the XXVth CIOMS Conference, entitled Development of International Ethical Guidelines for Epidemiological Research and Practice, was held in November 1990, to consider a set of draft international guidelines for ethical review of epidemiological studies, in the light of biomedical and public-health ethics, and the aspects of epidemiological research and practice, such as informed consent and confidentiality, that impinge upon ethics. The conference discussed the ethical risks associated with epidemiological research in conditions of poverty and scarcity, and the applicability of the guidelines in developing countries, and gave particular attention to the problems posed by the HIV/AIDS epidemic.

The proceedings of the conference entitled Ethics and Epidemiology - International Guidelines, including the international guidelines, were published in 1991.

Ethics and Research on Human Subjects — International Guidelines

To facilitate the revision of the Proposed International Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects, published in 1982, and to explore present-day issues in research on human subjects and how ethical principles may guide the conduct of such research, CIOMS organized in 1992 a conference on Ethics and Research on Human Subjects — International Guidelines.

At the conference the draft of the revised guidelines was examined and discussed by some 150 participants from both developed and developing countries, including representatives of ministries of health and of medical and other health-related disciplines, health policy-makers, ethicists, philosophers and lawyers.

The primary themes of the conference were:

- □ Consent of individuals and agreement of communities to participation in research, including concepts of consent and the communication to prospective research-subjects of information to enable them to give valid informed consent, inducements to consent, selection of subjects, special concerns of disadvantaged or vulnerable populations, and the problems of fully informing and gaining the agreement of communities.
- ☐ Ethical review processes, such as national and local committees, practical impediments to ethical review, review of externally-sponsored research, and developing the ethical-review capacity of host countries.
- Obligations of sponsors, with special attention to responsibility for access of subjects to medical services, access to beneficial results of research, care and compensation for injury resulting from research, and development of the research capacity of host countries.

In addition, there was discussion on emerging issues in research, such as the effects of different cultural concepts of ethical principles and values on the conduct of multinational research, challenges to the application of ethical principles in particular research areas such as HIV infection, the influence of ethical principles and guidelines on legislation, and the ethics of research into the human genome.

The three primary themes and the additional topics were explored in plenary presentations and discussed in working groups. A special plenary session was devoted to different cultural perspectives on ethics and research involving human subjects.

The draft guidelines were revised to reflect the consensus of the conference, but with due regard to minority points of view.

The proceedings of the conference, including the revised international guidelines, were published in 1993.

Poverty, Vulnerability, the Value of Human Life, and the Emergence of Bioethics

The first in a series of CIOMS/WHO conferences on Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values was convened in Athens, Greece in October-November 1984. Ten years later, CIOMS and WHO have convened the XXVIIIth Conference in Ixtapa, Guerrero, Mexico, both to commemorate the ten years of work, and to advance consideration of further important issues in this field.

CIOMS and WHO have been partners in probing at the applications of theory and practice of bioethics, often to facilitate consideration in developing countries of concepts formulated in the developed countries, but also to carry back to the developed world the perspectives of the developing world. This conference will provide further opportunities for continuing such probing, and also for reflecting on the particular role of CIOMS and WHO in that process, past and future.

Trends in Bioethics — Regional and Global Perspectives

The emergence of bioethics in the early 1960s in the United States was a result of many social, political, technological and philosophical factors which have a very significant influence on medicine, health policy and public policy in general.

The question should be asked, for every factor that influenced bioethics in the U.S., what was happening in the rest of the world? What would comparable analyses of the developments of bioethics in Europe, Asia, Africa and Latin America look like? Was there mainly a transfer of ideas and experience from the U.S. to other countries, to then be modified according to local circumstances? To what extent has bioethics abroad emerged in original form from the social, political, technological, philosophical, and historical context of those societies? To what extent has bioethics in the U.S. been influenced by happenings abroad in that field? How much room is there for collaborative interaction among countries in the further development of bioethics? How much attention has been given to characterizing the ways in which bioethics is evolving and interacting in different settings around the world?

The agenda of the conference was designed to address the above set of questions. There were presentations on and discussion of the Birth of Bioethics in the United States, followed by perspectives from Europe, developing countries, and related legal and legislative issues.

The Vulnerable in Developed and Developing Countries — A Conceptual Framework

There have been frequent expressions of concern for the vulnerable in previous CIOMS conferences, on Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values. To a considerable extent, the concern was focused on those who are poor, and those whose natural situations in life render them vulnerable.

Two groups of the vulnerable could be distinguished:

those who are vulnerable because of their situation in life — mothers, children, and those who are elderly, disabled, or at health risk because of where they live and work or how they live and work;

those who are rendered vulnerable because of their socio-economic status and the ways in which society deals with them.

A framework of considering how various factors bear on these forms of vulnerability include:

☐ Power and vulnerability;

| Physicians and the vulnerable in the context of their society; |
|--|
| Inter-country efforts for inter-country conflicts; |
| Roles of international organizations. |

The conference addressed concerns for the vulnerable through a presentation of the background paper followed by group discussions of the ways in which vulnerability is manifest in both developed and developing countries, leading to reflections in the final session on the possibilities of national and international response to the challenges represented by the vulnerable.

Disability-adjusted Life Years

The disability-adjusted life year (DALY) is a measure of disease burden, combining healthy life years lost because of premature mortality with those lost as a result of disability. A major purpose of using DALYs as a measure of disease burden is to provide policy-makers with guidance for resource allocation.

The key questions focused on comparative valuation given to human lives, and on the extent to with the construction of DALYs has taken equity into account as a moral imperative of development.

The conference addressed these issues through a panel, with a speaker and respondents, and then discussion in small working groups, pointing toward a session at the end that reflected on how far the participants had dealt with the challenges of this important subject.

The three main subjects of the conference were interactive and raised questions that are critical with respect to health and development in societies at all levels of socio-economic development. Each subject can be challenged in terms of the extent to which it takes the others into account. The conference probed at each and explored how they fit into the larger global processes of social development.

The proceedings of the conference were published in 1994.

Impact of Scientific Advances on Future Health

CIOMS cosponsored with WHO a colloquium on the Impact of Scientific Advances on Future Health, held in the United States on 20-25 June 1994. Its objective was to draw attention to, and document, the most critical current and potential developments in science which will have a major impact on medicine and public health over the next 10-20 years. Participants consisted of scientists notable for their research achievements in biology, physics, engineering and applied sciences, and social and behavioural sciences, together with CIOMS and WHO officials.

The colloquium considered two main themes — the future of medicine in the context of advances in natural and engineering sciences, and the future of public health in the context of economics, technology, and the sociocultural and behavioural environment.

The proceedings of the colloquium will be published in 1995.

DRUG DEVELOPMENT AND USE — MEDICAL, SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS

In the early 1980s, in close collaboration with WHO, CIOMS launched its programme on Drug Development and Use — Medical, Social and Economic Implications. The stimulus for this joint programme was a conference, convened in 1977, on Trends and Prospects in Drug Research and Development. The conference recognized that CIOMS, as an independent organization, was well placed to bring policy-makers of research-based pharmaceutical industries into discussion with their counterparts in government and academia, and to convene groups of experts from these constituencies to make recommendations on specific issues. Since then, in collaboration with WHO, CIOMS has undertaken a variety of projects of direct concern to manufacturers and prescribers of drugs. For some years the emphasis of CIOMS activities in relation to drugs has been on the monitoring of drug safety and the reporting of adverse drug reactions.

THE MONITORING AND TERMINOLOGY OF ADVERSE DRUG REACTIONS

This programme was undertaken for two reasons, namely, the intensity of public and media preoccupation with drug safety in highly developed countries, and the need to review the scope and potential of epidemiologically-based approaches and computerized record-linkage systems for drug surveillance.

Its aims were to present objectively and persuasively the benefits that society as a whole derives from access to modern drugs and vaccines, and to make the case that, unless society is prepared to accept the possibility of remote risks to the individual as the corollary of modern medical care and further therapeutic progress, the basis of contemporary drug development will ultimately founder. Society must be assured that a responsible and committed effort is in hand to minimize drug-induced injury, and that the risks of such injury compare favorably to those accepted in other aspects of daily life.

CIOMS convened, as a first step, a group of experts representing universities, drug manufacturers and regulatory agencies, and its report, Monitoring and Assessment of Adverse Drug Effects, was published in 1986. During the meeting representatives of both drug regulatory agencies and manufacturers emphasized the urgent need for harmonization of reporting of adverse drug reactions and the relevant terminology, and requested CIOMS to take the necessary steps.

International Reporting of Adverse Drug Reactions — CIOMS I

In 1986 the Adverse Drug Reaction Working Group was convened to explore means of coordination and standardization of international adverse-reaction reporting by industry to regulators. The underlying rationale of the formation of this group was the recognition that adverse drug reaction (ADR) surveillance is critical to assuring that approved drugs are safe in practice, given the inherent limitations of pre-marketing approval processes.

Knowledge of approved products routinely evolves after their initial marketing as experience of their use accrues. The aim of post-marketing surveillance is to capture this knowledge as rapidly and efficiently as possible.

The outcome of the Group's work, was the introduction of an international form and agreed and tested procedure for reporting adverse drug reactions. The form and the reporting procedures are now being used for exchanging reports between regulatory authorities and pharmaceutical manufacturers in a growing number of countries, including the United Kingdom, the United States of America, Germany, and France, which were represented in the ADR Working Group. Also, they are under consideration for use throughout the European Communities and they have been recommended by WHO, on the basis of broader consultation, for international adoption. The report of the Working Group, entitled International Reporting of Adverse Drug Reactions, was published in 1990.

Periodic Safety-Update of Drugs — CIOMS II

CIOMS has continued to act as a forum for manufacturers and regulators to meet and continue to facilitate international agreement on procedures for promoting drug safety. Thus a second CIOMS ADR Working Group, consisting of experts from the pharmaceutical industry and regulatory authorities, was convened to explore the possibility of developing internationally agreed approaches to the preparation of safety-update summaries. Such summaries could meet the needs of countries that cannot themselves analyse single cases of ADRs occurring in foreign countries, and at the same time serve as a model of how such data could be presented, so as to forestall any future diversity of safety update regulations.

CIOMS Working Group II set out to develop a satisfactory way for manufacturers to report safety information to regulatory bodies, and to elaborate uniform procedures, for current and future regulatory requirements. The Group concentrated on safety updates required periodically by regulatory authorities after a drug is approved.

It designed and tested a safety-update format, which is being recommended for routine use, and which may be considered also as a basis for periodic or final pre-marketing safety reports. A survey has been made of current safety-update reporting requirements in the nine countries whose regulatory authorities are taking part in the project. The report of CIOMS Working Group II on Drug Safety Updates was published in 1992.

Core Safety Data Sheets of Medicinal Drugs — CIOMS III

One of the key obligations for both drug manufacturers and health authorities bearing on the regulatory approval of a medicine is the provision of the most relevant and helpful information for health care professionals on the drug's benefits and risks.

The absence of internationally agreed standards on the format and content of medical product information for prescribers and other health care professionals give rise to discrepancies and inconsistencies from country to country and manufacturer to manufacturer. This situation is especially unfortunate with regard to the disclosure of important safety information that influences benefit vs. risk considerations in a prescriber's selection and application of a drug. Building on the precedents set by CIOMS Working Group I and II on individual patient and summary safety reporting internationally, Working Group III has developed proposals addressing the preparation and appropriate modification of the Core Safety Data Sheet of Medicinal Drugs: Standards for Good Clinical Safety Labelling Practices. These proposals cover the following aspects: what to include or exclude and how to decide, standard nomenclature and definitions, and general guidance on good clinical safety labelling practices.

The regulatory authorities and manufacturer participants in CIOMS Working Group III strongly endorse these proposed standards and hope they are not only implemented by manufacturers internationally but are adopted by health authorities for application to official data sheets everywhere.

The report of CIOMS Working Group III entitled The Core Safety Data Sheet of Medicinal Drugs was published in 1994.

Harmonization of Adverse Drug Reaction Terminology

The advent of international drug monitoring in the late 1960s and the directions that monitoring has taken since then have had as a direct consequence the creation of large data-bases of very heterogeneous origins. This is true not only of an international monitoring system such as that used by WHO, but also of data collected by major pharmaceutical companies with worldwide activities. In several countries companies are also required to transmit reports of adverse drug reactions to the regulatory authorities of other countries in which their products are marketed.

The use and interpretation of certain ADR terms differ considerably in different countries. This can lead to misinterpretation of data or delay their proper evaluation by drug regulatory authorities. The need to establish minimum requirements for the proper diagnosis of a suspected ADR, and thus to describe it with the correct term, is particularly evident in spontaneous reporting of single case reports. Single case reports represent the most important type of information for raising suspicions about drug safety, generating signals and, frequently, even taking action. Single case reports are transmitted by a reporting physician to a collecting centre at either a drug regulatory agency or a pharmaceutical company, and quite often between these organizations as well.

The CIOMS I, II, and III agreements represent useful steps in the harmonization of reporting of adverse drug reactions. The CIOMS I agreement ensures that there will be one form, with one set of definitions, to be completed in one language, for international reporting of ADR. The CIOMS II agreement is concerned with periodic safety updates and provides a format for a single unified report which pharmaceutical companies can send to all regulatory authorities who are willing to participate in the scheme. The CIOMS III agreement sets internationally agreed standards for the format and content of information on medical products.

The need of an international dictionary of ADR terms is recognized as a first priority by both drug regulatory authorities and pharmaceutical companies. Accurate definitions of terms are essential for their valid classification and for recording information from different sources in the same data-base.

In response to this need CIOMS initiated in 1989 a collaborative project aimed at establishing definitions and basic requirements for the use of terms for reporting adverse drug reactions. The model for this work was a series of consensus meetings held in France for defining adverse drug reactions. In the framework of this project CIOMS organized international meetings of experts, of drug-induced liver disorders and on drug-induced cytopenias. In addition, CIOMS with the support of German and Swiss pharmaceutical companies, organized a series of working groups to draw up definitions and minimum requirements for the use of Critical High-level Terms as listed in WHO Adverse Drug Reaction Terminology. The groups consist of medical specialists from different countries and members of national drug surveillance authorities and of drug safety units of pharmaceutical companies. The outcome of these working groups has been published in a series of papers.

There are several classification systems of ADR in extensive use. The most widely used are WHOART (World Health Organization Adverse Drug Reaction Terminology) and COSTART (Codification of Standard Terminology of Adverse Drug Reaction Terms) of the Food and Drug Administration of the United States. Recently a Medical Dictionary for Drug Reaction Terminology (MEDDRA) was developed in the United Kingdom in collaboration with the Medicines Control Agency of the Department of

Health of the United Kingdom.

Harmonization of terminology relevant to drug safety is essential for meaningful exchange of information and experience not only between manufacturers and drug regulators, but also between other groups involved in drug safety monitoring. Appreciative of this need and taking into consideration the CIOMS experience in this field, the Food and Drug Administration of the United States (FDA) and WHO have recently requested CIOMS to coordinate the harmonization process of ADR terminology and to

prepare the relevant dictionary.

Following this request CIOMS convened, in May 1994, a Planning Committee of representatives of WHO, FDA, EC, Japan and the pharmaceutical industry. The Committee agreed that it is essential that international communication in pharmacovigilance and other regulatory questions require a common terminology and the preparation of definitions and a single dictionary of terms. An overview committee, under the aegis of CIOMS and WHO, has been established in order to: review and consolidate relevant adverse drug reaction terminologies and propose a single terminology; promote the development of a single dictionary to support the terminology and maintain further development of the terminology and dictionary.

DRUG SURVEILLANCE: INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION PAST, PRESENT AND FUTURE

The subject of the XXVIIth CIOMS conference, the history and future of international cooperation in drug monitoring, is timely because of a resurgence of interest in this scientifically challenging area.

Quality, efficacy and safety are the three criteria which determine the acceptability of drugs for public use. Much attention is given to safety before a drug is registered, but, unlike the evaluation of quality and efficacy, in vitro studies, and animal and controlled human exposure give only a limited picture

of safety in general clinical use.

After the limitations of these safety measures were emphasized by the thalidomide tragedy, WHO set up a Programme to coordinate the surveillance efforts of national drug regulatory bodies, including the pooling of case data and producing collated and summarized outputs. The work of the Programme has been much strengthened by the involvement of CIOMS in bringing drug regulators and the pharmaceutical industry together to extend the basic work of the Programme in harmonization of terminology and definitions, which is making communication of drug safety concepts and issues easier, and to explore new areas such as periodic drug safety data sheets and the safety aspects of drug package inserts.

Now there are new challenges and opportunities in drug safety. New drugs are introduced rapidly into the international markets and new biotechnology produces drugs that influence body processes ever more profoundly. The promise is that more selectivity of action will make them safer, but such has to be proven, particularly when therapy may be lifelong. New techniques in pharmacoepidemiology make possible clearer identification of reasons why drugs may have been implicated in causing adverse drug reactions and may give

important information for better drug use.

With these examples alone it is easy to see that the cooperative effort begun 25 years ago is still valid, if safety problems with drugs are to be identified and investigated as rapidly as possible, thus giving patients throughout the world the optimal balance of benefit to risk from their treatment, at the most reasonable cost.

The purpose of this CIOMS conference was to review the present position with regard to international drug surveillance, from the perspectives of drug regulatory authorities, the pharmaceutical industry, health authorities, and the research and academic communities, and to indicate the broad lines to be followed in the medium term, at least, and with regard to both developed and developing countries.

The conference participants were representatives of national drugmonitoring centres, drug regulatory authorities, pharmaceutical companies and, as in previous CIOMS conferences, health ministries, CIOMS member organizations, non-governmental organizations in official relations with WHO, medical research councils and universities.

The proceedings of the conference were published in 1994.

ETHICAL CRITERIA FOR MEDICINAL DRUG PROMOTION

The 45th World Health Assembly passed in 1992 a resolution that called upon CIOMS to collaborate with WHO in convening a meeting of interested parties to discuss possible approaches to advancing the principles embodied in WHO's Ethical Criteria for Medicinal Drug Promotion. Pursuant to this request, the CIOMS/WHO Consultation was convened in Geneva in April 1993.

This consultation brought together a wide range of interested parties — governmental drug regulatory agencies, pharmaceutical industry, international pharmaceutical manufacturers associations, consumer groups, journal editors, medical educators, health professionals, and WHO senior staff — to examine the problems associated with implementation of the Ethical Criteria:

There was unanimous recognition of the need for widespread implementation of the Ethical Criteria as necessary for more appropriate approaches to the promotion or marketing of medicinal drugs, in keeping with rational use of drugs and associated improvements in health.

 Those present generally acknowledged their individual and organization's responsibilities for advancing the implementation of the Ethical Criteria within their spheres of influence and whenever appropriate in a spirit of collaboration.

 All those present also agreed to the importance of activities being undertaken across the broad field of medicinal drug promotion in order to bring practical and operational steps to the implementation of the Ethical Criteria.

 The participants also agreed to report their activities periodically to WHO, and in any case within a year, so these reports could be collectively matters of reference for the World Health Assembly.

A series of topics raised during the Consultation was one of the open dialogue and constructive development of areas for action that could be undertaken by WHO and by participants and their organizations with prospects for substantial advancement in the implementation of the Ethical Criteria.

The participants agreed on Topics Recommended for Further Action and Concluding Statement on the Consultation. The final report, including recommendations, were approved by the WHO Executive Board and the World Health Assembly, in 1994, and Resolution WHA47.11 was adopted, endorsing the report of the Consultation and requesting implementation of its recommendations.

INTERNATIONAL NOMENCLATURE OF DISEASES

Confusion in disease nomenclature is a barrier to communication and to the storage and retrieval of information. Few diseases have a single recognized name: most have several different — often widely different — names, and some have thirty or more. Many of these names are strict synonyms; others, however, are not but may represent only a single clinical manifestation of a given disease rather than the disease itself. The confusion is aggravated by the fact that the same name, or very similar names, may be applied to two or more different conditions, or be used in different ways by different authors, Moreover, very similar names may be used in different senses in different languages. At a time when health is increasingly a matter of concerted international effort, such confusion gives rise to intolerable difficulty in communication and to waste of precious resources.

Following a pilot study, CIOMS, in 1975 undertook, jointly with WHO, the project: International Nomenclature of Diseases (IND). The project is guided by a Secretariat Technical Steering Committee with representatives of both organizations. It was at first funded by the Public Health Service of the United States of America; from 1983 to 1990 it was supported by a grant from the Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences and the Kuwait Ministry of Public Health.

The principle objective of the IND is to provide, for every morbid entity, a single internationally-agreed recommended name. The main criteria for selection of this name are that it should be specific (i.e., that it should apply to one and only one disease), unambiguous, as self-descriptive as possible, as simple as possible, and (wherever feasible) based on cause. However, many widely used names do not fully meet these criteria, and to propose new names might well increase, rather than eliminate, confusion. Consequently, names that are in virtually universal usage are retained, even if they do not fully meet the criteria listed above, provided they are not seriously incorrect, misleading, or contrary to the recommendations of international specialist organizations. Eponymous terms are avoided as far as possible, since they are not self-descriptive; however, many of these also such as Hodgkin's disease, Parkinson's disease and Addison's disease, are in such widespread use that they must be retained.

Each disease or synonym for which a name is recommended is defined as unambiguously but as briefly as possible. To the definition is appended a list of synonyms — that is, terms other than the recommended term that have been applied to the morbid entity in question. These lists are very valuable for information retrieval and are made as complete as possible; they are supplemented, where necessary, by notes explaining why certain synonyms are rejected or why a term used as a synonym is not a true synonym.

An additional objective of the IND is that it should serve as a complement to the WHO International Classification of Diseases (ICD). The ICD is a classified list of diseases, arranged systematically and hierarchically, and designed for the reporting of mortality and morbidity. The IND is a list of

recommended names of diseases, with their definitions and synonyms, and is not concerned with their classification. In the preparation of the 10th Revision of the ICD use was made of the experience gained in the preparation of the IND, particularly in regard to the groups of diseases for which volumes of the IND have been published, or are about to be published.

The IND project draws on the services of more than 500 experts in many countries. So far, more than 5000 names of diseases and their definitions have

been agreed and more than 20,000 synonymous terms listed.

To date the following volumes of the International Nomenclature of Diseases have been published:

Volume II, Infections Diseases: Part 1, Bacterial Diseases, 1985

Part 2, Mycoses, 1982 Part 3, Viral Diseases, 1983

Part 4, Parasitic Diseases, 1987

Volume III, Diseases of the Lower Respiratory Tract, 1979

Volume IV, Diseases of the Digestive System, 1990 Volume V, Cardiac and Vascular Diseases, 1989

Volume VI, Metabolic, Nutritional, and Endocrine Disorders, 1991

Volume VII, Diseases of the Female Genital System, 1992

Volume VIII, Diseases of the Kidney, the Lower Urinary Tract and the Male Genital System, 1992

Lexicon of Psychiatric Terms, 1989

Volume I, which will include a general introduction, guiding principles and a historical background of the project, will be published after all other volumes of the nomenclature have been completed.

Other volumes, concerned with diseases of the blood and haemopoietic system including immunological disorders, with neurological disorders and with diseases of the musculoskeletal system, are at different stages of preparation.

It is hoped that the International Nomenclature of Diseases will facilitate communication between health workers throughout the world by providing a truly international language of diseases and thus eliminating one of the barriers to communication.

Due to lack of funds the project was suspended until an eventual availability of funding.

CONFERENCES AND COORDINATION OF INTERNATIONAL MEDICAL CONGRESSES

Annual conferences of CIOMS, on subjects that are both topical and of international significance, serve two purposes: to implement the technical programmes of CIOMS; and to provide an international forum, unhampered by political or administrative constraints, for the exploration of the scientific and technical aspects of new developments in biology and medicine as well as their social, ethical, administrative and legal implications.

Participants in these conferences are prominent representatives of their different fields of medicine and biology, philosophy and theology, sociology and law; it is felt that this multidisciplinary approach can best explore and elucidate the multiple facets of issues that are no longer exclusively the concern of any one profession and are sometimes subjects of wide public interest.

Every year CIOMS organizes such a conference, publishes its proceedings, distributes them to its member organizations, and makes them available

generally through the WHO Distribution and Sales Service.

One of the main tasks of CIOMS since its inception in 1949 has been to assist in the coordination of international medical congresses. Once an international or regional organization of medical sciences has notified CIOMS of the subject and proposed date and place of a congress, CIOMS informs the organization concerned of possible overlapping or duplication with other congresses. Since notifications are usually received two or three years in advance, sufficient time is allowed for changes to be made. Each year, CIOMS publishes the Calendar of Congresses of Medical Sciences, covering the current and succeeding years.

CIOMS collaborates in this field with the International Congress and Convention Association (ICCA). ICCA has assisted and co-sponsored with CIOMS several annual conferences and statutory meetings, and has provided,

upon request, advice free of charge to CIOMS members.

COLLABORATION WITH THE WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION, UNESCO AND THE UNITED NATIONS

By is statutes CIOMS is required to collaborate with the United Nations and its Specialized Agencies, especially WHO and Unesco. During its early years, the organization was located at the Paris headquarters of Unesco and was more actively linked with Unesco activities than with those of WHO. However, with the intensified medical research programme which WHO undertook in the late 1960s, later expanded and oriented towards health research, the objectives of CIOMS became increasingly complementary to those of WHO. Many joint or collaborative activities, as described in the preceding pages, have been undertaken since 1970 when the CIOMS Secretariat was transferred from Unesco in Paris to the Geneva headquarters of WHO.

At present, with regard to bioethics and health policy ethics, CIOMS is acting on behalf of the WHO Global Advisory Committee on Health Research and therefore collaborates particularly with the WHO Secretariat Committee for Research Involving Human Subjects, as well as with the Office of Research Policy and Strategy, Health Legislation, and the WHO special programmes, namely the Global Programme on AIDS; Research, Development and Research Training in Human Reproduction; and Research and Training in Tropical Diseases.

Since 1975 CIOMS has been responsible for the preparation of an internationally agreed terminology of diseases, entitled International Nomenclature of Diseases. CIOMS is the executive agency for the joint project with WHO, and as such collaborates with all technical divisions and units of WHO.

In the field of drug development and use, since the early 1980s CIOMS, in collaboration with the WHO Division of Drug Management and Policies, has been conducting studies which involve the preparation of a series of meetings and the publication of subsequent technical reports, aimed at improving the safety of drugs, in particular the monitoring and assessment of adverse drug reactions.

Collaboration with the United Nations has been largely through its Centre of Human Rights and through the Committee on Crime Prevention and Control, of the Economic and Social Council. As noted above, in 1982 the General Assembly of the United Nations adopted Principles of Medical Ethics Relating to Prisoners, which CIOMS had drafted at the request of WHO.

For some years, the relations between CIOMS and Unesco have been largely consultative, mainly with regard to bioethics. Unesco is regularly informed of CIOMS activities, and its comments have provided welcome guidance. It continues to provide office accommodation for CIOMS at its Paris headquarters, as WHO does in Geneva.

PUBLICATIONS

BIOETHICS AND HEALTH-POLICY ETHICS

Medical Ethics and the Protection of Human Rights. 1980. Proceedings of the XIIth CIOMS Round Table Conference, Cascais, Portugal, 30 November-1 December 1978. Ed. N. Howard-Jones and Z. Bankowski. (Co-publisher Sandoz Institute).

Medical Ethics and Medical Education. 1981. Proceedings of the XIVth CIOMS Round Table Conference, Mexico City, Mexico, 1-3 December 1980. Ed. Z. Bankowski and J. Corvera Bernardelli.

Human Experimentation and Medical Ethics. 1982. Proceedings of the XVth CIOMS Round Table Conference, Manila, Philippines, 13-16 September 1981. Ed. Z. Bankowski and N. Howard-Jones.

Proposed International Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects. 1982. Ed. Z. Bankowski.

Principles of Medical Ethics Relevant to the Protection of Prisoners Against Torture. 1983. Ed. Z. Bankowski.

Biomedical Research Involving Animals — Proposed International Guiding Principles. 1984. Proceedings of the XVIIth CIOMS Round Table Conference, Geneva, Switzerland, 8-9 December 1983. Ed. Z. Bankowski and N. Howard-Jones.

Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values — An International Dialogue. 1985. Proceedings of the XVIIIth CIOMS Round Table Conference, Athens, Greece, 29 October-2 November 1984. Ed. Z. Bankowski and J.H. Bryant.

Battered Children and Child Abuse. 1986. Proceedings of the XIXth CIOMS Round Table Conference, Berne, Switzerland 4-6 December 1985. Ed. Z. Bankowski and M. Carballo.

Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values: European and North American Perspectives. 1988. Proceedings of the XXIst CIOMS Round Table Conference, Noordwijk, The Netherlands, 2-5 June 1987. Ed. Z. Bankowski and J.H. Bryant.

Ethics and Human Values in Family Planning. 1989. Proceedings of the XXIInd CIOMS Round Table Conference, Bangkok, Thailand 19-24 June 1988. Ed. Z. Bankowski, J. Barzelatto and A.M. Capron.

Health Policy, Ethics and Human Values: An Islamic Perspective. 1989. Reflections on the Cairo Seminar, Cairo, Egypt 24-25 November 1988.

Health Technology Transfer: Whose Responsibility? 1990. Proceedings of the XXIIIrd CIOMS Round Table Conference, Geneva, Switzerland, 2-3 November 1989. Ed. Z. Bankowski and G.L. Ada.

Genetics, Ethics and Human Values: Human Genome Mapping, Genetic Screening and Gene Therapy. 1991. Proceedings of the XXIVth CIOMS Round Table Conference, Tokyo and Inuyama City, Japan, 22-27 July 1990. Ed. Z. Bankowski and A.M. Capron.

Ethics and Epidemiology: International Guidelines. 1991. Proceedings of the XXVth CIOMS Conference, Geneva, Switzerland, 7-9 November 1990. Ed. Z. Bankowski, J.H. Bryant and J.M. Last.

International Guidelines for Ethical Review of Epidemiological Studies. 1991. Ed. Z. Bankowski.

Ethics and Research on Human Subjects — International Guidelines. 1993. Proceedings of the XXVIth CIOMS Conference, Geneva, Switzerland, 5-7 February 1992. Ed. Z. Bankowski and R.J. Levine.

International Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research Involving Human Subjects. 1993. Ed. Z. Bankowski.

Poverty, Vulnerability, the Value of Human Life and the Emergence of Bioethics. 1994. Proceedings of the XXVIIIth CIOMS Conference, Ixtapa, Mexico, 17-20 April 1994. Ed. Z. Bankowski and J.H. Bryant.

DRUG DEVELOPMENT AND USE

Safety Requirements for the First Use of New Drugs and Diagnostic Agents in Man. 1983. A review of safety issues in early clinical trials of drugs. Ed. C.D. Dollery and Z. Bankowski.

Monitoring and Assessment of Adverse Drug Effects. 1986. Report of a CIOMS Working Group. Ed. Z. Bankowski and J.F. Dunne.

International Reporting of International Adverse Drug Reactions. 1989. Final report of CIOMS Working Group I.

Standardization of definitions and criteria of causality assessment of adverse drug reactions. *Drug-induced liver disorders:* report of an International Consensus Meeting. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, Therapy and Toxicology,* 1990; 28(8): 317-322

Standardization of definitions and criteria of causality assessment of adverse drug reactions. *Drug-induced cytopenia*. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *Therapy and Toxicology*, 1991; 29(2): 75-81

International Reporting of Periodic Drug-Safety Update Summaries. 1992. Final Report of CIOMS Working Group II.

Basic Requirements for the Use of Terms for Reporting Adverse Drug Reactions. Anaphylactic shock, arrhythmia, cardiac failure, hypertension, thrombosis and embolism. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, 1992; 1:39-45

Basic Requirements for the Use of Terms for Reporting Adverse Drug Reactions (II). Colitis, gastrointestinal haemorrhage, hepatocellular damage, peptic ulcer, pancreatitis. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, 1992; 1:133-137

Basic Requirements for the Use of Terms for Reporting Adverse Drug Reactions (III). Aplastic anaemia, bone marrow depression, coagulation disorders, agranulocytosis, thrombophlebitis. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, 1992; 1:191-196.

Basic Requirements for the Use of Terms for Reporting Adverse Drug Reactions (IV).. Dyskinesia, depression, myopathy, neuropathy, paralysis, convulsions. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, 1993; 2:149-153

Basic Requirements for the Use of Terms for Reporting Adverse Drug Reactions (V). Vision abnormal, keratitis, cataract, retinal disorder acidosis. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety, 1994; 2:189-193

Definition of Adverse Drug Reactions and Minimum Requirements for Their Use (Myocardial, Endocardial, Pericardial and Valve Disorders). *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 1994; 2:591-602

The Core Safety Date Sheet: Standards for Good Clinical Safety Labelling Practices. 1994. Final Report of CIOMS Working Group III.

Drug Surveillance: International Cooperation - Past, Present and Future. 1994. Proceedings of the XXVIIth CIOMS Conference, Geneva, Switzerland, 14-15 September 1993. Ed. Z. Bankowski and J.F. Dunne.

INTERNATIONAL NOMENCLATURE OF DISEASES

Infectious Diseases, Volume II, Part 1: Bacterial Diseases, 1985

Part 2: Mycoses, 1982

Part 3: Viral Diseases, 1983 Part 4: Parasitic Diseases, 1987\$

Diseases of the Lower Respiratory Tract, Volume III, 1979

Diseases of the Digestive System, Volume IV, 1990

Cardiac and Vascular Diseases, Volume V, 1989

Metabolic, Nutritional and Endocrine Disorders, Volume VI, 1991

Diseases of the Female Genital System, Volume VII, 1992

Diseases of the Kidney, the Lower Urinary Tract and the Male Genital System, Volume VIII, 1992

Lexicon of Psychiatric Terms, 1989

ANNUAL PUBLICATION

Calendar of Congresses of Medical Sciences

INTERNATIONAL MEMBERS

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF ALLERGOLOGY AND CLINICAL IMMUNOLOGY ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE D'ALLERGOLOGIE ET D'IMMUNOLOGIE CLINIQUE

President:

Prof. Terumasa MIYAMOTO, President, National Sagamihara Hospital, 18-1 Sakuradai, Sagamihara-shi, Kanagawa-ken, Japan.

President-Elect:

Prof. Alberto OEHLING, Clinica Universitaria, Depto de Alergologia, Apartado 192, Pamplona, Spain.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Allen KAPLAN, Health Science Center, State University of New York at Stony Brook, Stony Brook, New York 11794, USA.

Treasurer:

Prof. Robert J. DAVIES, Academic Department of Respiratory Medicine, St. Bartholomew's Hospital, West Smithfield, London ECIA 7BE, UK.

Executive Secretary:

Mr Rick IBER, International Association of Allergology and Clinical Immunology, 611 East Wells Street, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 532O2, USA.

INTERNATIONAL COLLEGE OF ANGIOLOGY

President:

Dr John B. CHANG, Director, Long Island Vascular Center, Long Island Vascular Laboratory, 1050 Northern Boulevard, Roslyn, New York 11576, USA.

Past-President and Secretary:

Dr H.-J. HACHEN, Spinal Injuries Centre, Beau-Séjour, Geneva University Hospital, Case postale 249, 1211 Geneva 4, Switzerland.

Treasurer:

Dr Earl R. OLSEN, 3020 Bridgeway, Suite 276, Sausalito, Calif. 94965, USA.

Executive Director and Assistant Treasurer:

Ms Denise M. ROSSIGNOL, International College of Angiology, 5 Daremy Court, Nesconset, New York 11767, USA.

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF AUDIOLOGY SOCIÉTÉ INTERNATIONALE D'AUDIOLOGIE

President:

Prof. Dr Med. Wolfart NIEMEYER, Hals-Nasen-Ohrenarzt, Süderstrasse 26, 2252 Wester-Ohrstedt, Germany.

Secretary-General and Treasurer:

Dr S.D. STEPHENS, Welsh Hearing Institute, University Hospital of Wales, Health Park, Cardiff CF4 4XW, Wales, UK.

INTERNATIONAL UNION AGAINST CANCER UNION INTERNATIONALE CONTRE LE CANCER

President:

Dr S. ECKHARDT, National Institute of Oncology, XII Rath György-u 7-9, 1525 Budapest, Hungary.

Secretary-General:

Dr G.P. MURPHY, American Cancer Society, 1599 Clifton Road NE, Atlanta, GA 30329, USA.

Treasurer:

Dr Max M. BURGER, Friedrich Miescher Institute, PO Box 2543, 4002 Basel. Switzerland.

Executive Director:

Mr A.J. TURNBULL, UICC, 3 rue du Conseil-Général, 1205 Geneva, Switzerland.

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY AND FEDERATION OF CARDIOLOGY SOCIÉTÉ ET FÉDÉRATION INTERNATIONALE DE CARDIOLOGIE

President:

Dr David T. KELLY, Hallstrom Institute of Cardiology, Royal Prince Alfred Hospital, Camperdown, NSW 2050, Australia.

Past-President and Delegate to CIOMS:

Dr Wilhelm RUTISHAUSER, Head, Cardiology Centre, Hôpital Cantonal Universitaire, 1211 Geneva 4, Switzerland.

Vice-President:

Mr Armand SCHALLER, French Heart Foundation, 50 rue du Rocher, 75008 Paris, France.

Secretary:

Dr Eduardo SALAZAR, Instituto Nacional de Cardiologia, Calle Juan Badiano No. 1, Tlalpan, Mexico, DF 14080, Mexico.

Treasurer:

Mr Roger F. HUSSEY, Institute of Chartered Accountants, 87-89 Pembroke Road, Dublin 4, Ireland.

Executive Secretary:

Ms Marianne B. de FIGUEIREDO, International Society and Federation of Cardiology, 34 rue de l'Athénée, PO Box 117, 1211 Geneva 12, Switzerland.

COLLEGIUM INTERNATIONALE ACTIVITATIS NERVOSAE SUPERIORIS (CIANS)

President:

Dr Karl BAETTIG, Verhaltensbiologie, ETH-Zentrum,. 8092 Zurich, Switzerland.

President-Elect:

Dr David J. RAMSAY, UCSF Office of Acad. Vice-Chancellor, 513 Parnassus, Room S-115, Box 0400, San Francisco, CA 94143, USA.

Secretary-Treasurer:

Prof. B.H. NATELSON, New Jersey Medical School, 88 Ross Street, East Orange, NJ 07018, USA.

Secretary-General:

Prof. M. HORVATH, Institute of Hygiene and Epidemiology, Srobarova 48, 10042 Prague 10, Czechoslovakia.

INTERNATIONAL DENTAL FEDERATION FÉDÉRATION DENTAIRE INTERNATIONALE

President:

Dr Ruperto GONZALES GIRALDA, Suarez Guerra 44, 38002 Santa Cruz de Tenerife, Canary Islands, Spain.

President-Elect:

Dr Kazuo YAMAZAKI, Japan Dental Association, 4-1-20 Kudan-kita, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 102, Japan.

Executive Director:

Dr P.A. ZILLEN, International Dental Federation, 64 Wimpole Street, London WlM 8AL, UK.

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF DERMATOLOGY: TROPICAL, GEOGRAPHIC AND ECOLOGIC

President:

Dr Francisco KERDEL-VEGAS, Apartado 6O391, Caracas 1060-A, Venezuela.

Honorary President:

Dr Orlando CANIZARES, 3 East 69th Street, New York, NY 10021, USA.

Executive Vice-President:

Dr Coleman JACOBSON, 3600 Gaston Avenue, Suite 1051, Dallas, Texas 75246, USA.

Secretary-General:

Dr Sigfrid A. MULLER, 200 First Street SW, Rochester, MN 55901, USA.

Treasurer:

Dr Vincent CIPOLLARO, 1016 Fifth Avenue, New York, NY 10028, USA.

INTERNATIONAL LEAGUE OF DERMATOLOGICAL SOCIETIES

President:

Prof. John S. STRAUSS, Head, Department of Dermatology, University of Iowa Hospitals & Clinics, 200 Hawkins Drive BT2045, Iowa City, IA 52242-1090, USA.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Jose M. MASCARO, Chairman, Department of Dermatology, Hospital Clinic, Casanova 143, 08036 Barcelona, Spain.

Treasurer:

Prof. Constantin E. ORFANOS, Chairman, Department of Dermatology, University Medical Center Steglitz, The Free University of Berlin, Hindenburgdamm 30, 12203 Berlin, Germany.

INTERNATIONAL DIABETES FEDERATION FÉDÉRATION INTERNATIONALE DU DIABETE

President:

Mr Wendell MAYES, Jr., PO Box 50030, Austin, Texas 78763, USA.

President-Elect:

Prof. Jack JERVELL, Rikshospitalet, Department of Medicine, 0027 Oslo l, Norway.

Secretary:

Mrs Hilary WILLIAMS, International Diabetes Federation, International Association Centre, 40 rue Washington, 1050 Brussels, Belgium.

WORLD ORGANIZATION OF GASTROENTEROLOGY ORGANISATION MONDIALE DE GASTROENTEROLOGIE

President:

Prof. Ian A.D. BOUCHIER, Dept. of Medicine, The Royal Infirmary, Edinburgh EH3 9YW, UK.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Meinhard CLASSEN, Direktor der II Medizinischen und Poliklinik der Technischen Universität München, Ismaninger Strasse 22, 8000 Munich 80, Germany.

Treasurer:

Prof. Joseph E. GEENEN, Medical College of Wisconsin, 1333 College Avenue, Racine, Wisconsin 53403, USA.

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF INTERNAL MEDICINE SOCIÉTÉ INTERNATIONALE DE MÉDECINE INTERNE

President:

Dr Fernando CHALEM, Bogota, Colombia.

Past-President:

Dr M. SANGIORGI, Rome, Italy.

Secretary-General:

Dr Rolf A. STREULI, Chefarzt der Medizinischen Abteilung, Regionalspital, 4900 Langenthal, Switzerland.

Treasurer:

Mr E. MOLLET, Director, Société de Banque Suisse, 4002 Basel, Switzerland.

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MEDICAL LABORATORY TECHNOLOGISTS ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DES TECHNICIENS DE LABORATOIRE MÉDICAL

President:

Mrs Ulla-Britt LINDHOLM, Kungsgardsvägen 58, 50 Umea, Sweden.

Treasurer:

Mrs Marja-Kaarina KOSKINEN, Olli Tiaisen Tie 19E, 80790 Kontioranta, Finland.

Executive Director:

Ms Margareta HAAG, Executive Office, IAMLT, Ostermalmsgatan 19, ll4 26 Stockholm, Sweden.

LATIN-AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NATIONAL ACADEMIES OF MEDICINE ASSOCIATION LATINOAMERICANA DE ACADEMIAS NACIONALES DE MEDICINA

President:

Dr Plutarco NARANJO, Casilla 88884, Quito, Ecuador.

Permanent Secretary:

Dr A. CARDÉNAS-ESCOVAR, Apartado Aereo 88951, Bogota 8, Colombia.

ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DE DROIT, ÉTHIQUE ET SCIENCE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF LAW, ETHICS AND SCIENCE

Secretary-General:

Prof. Christian BYK, Judge, 62 boulevard de Port-Royal, 75007 Paris, France.

Treasurer:

Mr G. BINAME, Maison des parlementaires, 19 rue de Louvain, 1000 Brussels, Belgium.

INTERNATIONAL ACADEMY OF LEGAL MEDICINE AND SOCIAL MEDICINE ACADÉMIE INTERNATIONALE DE MÉDECINE LÉGALE ET DE MÉDECINE SOCIALE

President:

Professor Bernd BRINKMANN, Director, Institut für Rechtsmedizin, von Esmarchstrasse 86, D-4400 Münster, Germany.

Secretary:

Prof. Pekka Juani SAUKKO, Department of Forensic Medicine, Kiinamyllinkatu 10, FIN-20520 Turku, Finland.

Treasurer:

Prof. Walter BÄR, Director, Institut für Rechtsmedizin, Winterthurerstrasse 190/Bau 52, CH-8057 Zürich, Switzerland.

Permanent Secretariat:

Mrs Elizabeth FRANCSON, Avenue Nicolai 49A/8, 4802 Verviers, Belgium.

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR THE STUDY OF THE LIVER (IASL) ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE POUR L'ÉTUDE DU FOIE

President:

Prof. Jean RODES, Liver Unit, Hospital Clinici Provincial, Villaroel 170, 08036 Barcelona, Spain.

Secretary-Treasurer:

Prof. Roberto J. GROSZMANN, Yale University School of Medicine, VA Medical Center, Hepatic Hemodynamics Lab/111J, West Haven, CT 06516, USA.

Delegate to CIOMS:

Prof. Johannes BIRCHER, Division of Clinical Pharmacology and Internal Medicine, Dean, Faculty of Medicine, University of Witten/Herdecke, Alfred-Herrhausen-Strasse 50, 58448 Witten, Germany.

WORLD FEDERATION FOR MEDICAL EDUCATION (WFME) FÉDÉRATION MONDIALE DE L'ÉDUCATION MÉDICALE

President:

Prof. H.J. WALTON, The University of Edinburgh, Centre for Medical Education, ll Hill Square, Edinburgh EH8 9DR, Scotland, UK.

WORLD FEDERATION OF NEUROLOGY FÉDÉRATION MONDIALE DE NEUROLOGIE

President:

Lord WALTON OF DETCHANT, 13 Norham Gardens, Oxford OX2 6PS, UK.

First Vice-President:

Prof. H.J. POECK, Department of Neurology, Pauwelstrasse, 5100 Aachen, Germany.

Secretary-Treasurer:

Dr F. Clifford ROSE, London Neurological Centre, 110 Harley Street, London W1N 1AF, UK.

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF CLINICAL NEUROPHYSIOLOGY FÉDÉRATION INTERNATIONALE DE NEUROPHYSIOLOGIE CLINIQUE

President:

Prof. Jun KIMURA, Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Kyoto University, 54 Shogoin-Kawaharacho, Sakyoku, Kyoto 606, Japan.

Secretary:

Dr Giuseppe CARUSO, Cattedra di Neurofisiopatologia, University di Napoli «Federico II», Via S. Pansini 5 - Nuovo Policlinico, 80131 Naples, Italy.

Treasurer:

Dr Manuel MEYER, Department of Neurology, University of Zurich, Rämistrasse 100, 8091 Zurich, Switzerland.

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF NURSES

President:

Dr Mo-Im KIM, Korea.

Delegate to CIOMS:

Dr Taka OGUISSO.

Executive Director:

Ms Constance HOLLERAN, International Council of Nurses, 3 place Jean-Marteau, 1201 Geneva, Switzerland.

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF OTORHINOLARYNGOLOGICAL SOCIETIES FÉDÉRATION INTERNATIONALE DES SOCIÉTÉS D'OTO-RHINO-LARYNGOLOGIE

President:

Dr T. SACRISTAN OLONSO, Spain.

General Secretary:

Dr P.W. ALBERTI, University of Toronto, 7-219 Eaton N, 200 Elisabeth Street, Toronto, Ontario M5G 2C4, Canada.

INTERNATIONAL PEDIATRIC ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DE PÉDIATRIE

President:

Prof. Perla D. SANTOS-OCAMPO, Chairman, Department of Pediatrics, College of Medicine, University of the Philippines, PO Box EA 100, Ermita, Metro Manila, Philippines.

Treasurer:

Prof. Jean REY, Département de Pédiatrie, Clinique des Maladies des Enfants, Hôpital des Enfants Malades, 149 rue de Sèvres, 75743 Paris Cedex 15, France.

Executive Director:

Prof. Ihsan DOGRAMACI.

Office of the Executive Director and Permanent Secretariat of IPA: University of Rochester School of Medicine, 601 Elmwood Avenue, Box 777, Rochester, NY 14642, USA.

WORLD FEDERATION OF ASSOCIATIONS OF PEDIATRIC SURGEONS FÉDÉRATION MONDIALE DES ASSOCIATIONS DE CHIRURGIENS PÉDIATRES

President:

Prof. Keith W. ASHCRAFT, Children's Mercy Hospital, 24th and Gillham Road, Kansas City, M0 64108, USA.

Vice-Presidents:

Prof. W. PINUS, Escola Paulista de Medicina, Chir. Pediatrica, Rua Naioleal le Barrus, 715 Sao Paolo, Brazil.

Prof. W.A. MAIER, Kinderchirurgische Klinik, Staedtisches Klinikum, Karl-Wilhelmstrasse 1, 7500 Karlsruhe, Germany.

Secretary-Treasurer:

Prof. J. BOIX-OCHOA, Clinica Infantil «Valle d'Hebron», Dpto Cirurgia Pediatrica, Po. Valle de Hebron, 08025 Barcelona, Spain.

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF PHYSICAL MEDICINE AND REHABILITATION FÉDÉRATION INTERNATIONALE DE MÉDECINE PHYSIQUE ET RÉADAPTATION

President:

Dr C.M. GODFREY.

Honorary Secretary:

Dr J. JIMINEZ, 600 University Avenue, Room 215, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5G IX5.

Deputy Honorary Secretary:

Dr A.P.M. VAN GESTEL, Revalidatie afdeling, St. Elisabeth Ziekenhuis, Hilvarenbeekseweg 60, PO Box 90151, 5000 LC Tilburg, Netherlands.

Honorary Treasurer:

Dr William J. ERDMAN II, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, 3400 Spruce Street, Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA.

WORLD PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION MONDIALE DE PSYCHIATRIE

President:

Prof. Jorge Alberto COSTA E SILVA, University do Estado de Rio de Janeiro, Rua Geulio das Neves 22, CEP 2246l Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

President-Elect:

Prof. Felice LIEH MAK, Professor and Head, University of Hong Kong, Department of Psychiatry, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Juan José LOPEZ-IBOR, Jr., WPA Secretariat, Lopez-Ibor Clinic, Nueva Zelanda 44, 28O35 Madrid, Spain.

INTERNATIONAL REHABILITATION MEDICINE ASSOCIATION (IRMA) ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DE RÉADAPTATION MÉDICALE

President:

Dr Arturo MOLINA-ARINO, Pedro Nino No. 4, 47001 Valladolid, Spain.

Past-President:

Dr Tyrone M. REYES, 25 Columbia Street, Loyola Grand Villas Subdivision, Quezon City 1108, Manila, Philippines.

Honorary Secretary:

Dr Martin GRABOIS, Department of Physical Medicine, Baylor College of Medicine, 1333 Moursund Avenue, Room A-221, Houston, Texas 77030, USA.

Deputy Secretary and Delegate to CIOMS:

Dr Hans-Jörg HACHEN, Spinal Cord Injury Centre, Geneva University Hospital (Beau-Séjour), 1211 Geneva 4, Switzerland.

Treasurer;

Dr Kurt A. JOCHHEIM, Department of Rehabilitation, Lindenburgerallee 44, 5000 Cologne 41, Germany.

INTERNATIONAL LEAGUE AGAINST RHEUMATISM (ILAR) LIGUE INTERNATIONALE CONTRE LE RHUMATISME

President:

Dr Roberto ARINOVICHE, Clinica de Reumatologia y Rehabilitacion, Luis Thayer Ojeda 0115 Of. 905, Casilla lO4, Correo 35, Santiago, Chile.

President-Elect:

Prof. Jan DEQUEKER, Afdeling Reumatologie, Auniversitair Ziekenhuis, Leuvan, 3212 Pellenberg, Belgium.

Secretary-General:

Dr John SERGENT, St. Thomas Hospital, PO Box 380, Nashville, TN 372O2, USA.

Treasurer:

Prof. A.S. RUSSELL, 9/112 Clinical Sciences Building, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2B3.

INTERNATIONAL RHINOLOGIC SOCIETY SOCIÉTÉ INTERNATIONALE RHINOLOGIQUE

President:

Prof. Ryo TAKAHASHI, The Jikei University School of Medicine, 3-25-8 Nishi-Shimbashi, Minato-ku, Tokyo 105, Japan.

First Vice-President:

Prof. P. VAN CAUWENBERGE, Department of Otolaryngology, University Hospital Ghent, De Pintelaan 185, 9000 Ghent, Belgium.

Secretary-Treasurer:

Prof. P.A.R. CLEMENT, ENT Department, Academisch Ziekenhuis Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Laarbeeklaan 101, 1090 Brussels, Belgium.

INTERNATIONAL COLLEGE OF SURGEONS COLLÈGE INTERNATIONAL DES CHIRURGIENS

President (1995):

Prof. Pedro RUBIO, 7400 Fannin, Suite 1200, Houston, Texas 77054, U.S.A.

Executive Director:

Mr. J. Thomas VIALL, International College of Surgeons, 1516 North Lake Shore Drive, Chicago, Illinois 60610, USA.

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF SURGICAL COLLEGES

President:

Prof. Olajide O. AJAYI.

Hon. Secretary:

Mr E. DURHAM SMITH, AO, FRACS, Royal Australasian College of Surgeons, College of Surgeons Gardens, 13 Spring Street, Melbourne, Vic. 3000, Australia.

Hon. Treasurer:

Dr Lloyd M. HYHUS, FACS, American College of Surgeons, 55 East Erie Street, Chicago, IL 60611, USA.

WORLD FEDERATION FOR ULTRASOUND IN MEDICINE AND BIOLOGY

President:

Dr Morimichi FUKUDA, Dept. of Ultrasound and Medicine, Sapporo Medical College, S-1 W-16 Chuo-ku, Japan.

President-Elect:

Dr Barry B. GOLDBERG, Division of Diagnostic Ultrasound, Thomas Jefferson University, 132 South Tenth Street, Main Building - 7th floor, Philadelphia, PA 19107, USA.

Vice-President:

Dr Hisaya TAKEUCHI, Dept. of Obstetrics & Gynecology, Juntendo University, Urayasu Hospital, 2-l-l Tomioka Urayasu-shi 279, Japan.

Secretary:

Dr David E. ROBINSON, Ultrasonics Laboratory, 126 Greville Street, Chatswood, NSW 2067, Australia.

Treasurer:

Dr William D. O'BRIEN, Jr., Dept. of Electr. & Comp. Engineering, University of Illinois, 1406 West Green Street, Urbana, IL 61801-2991, USA.

MEDICAL WOMEN'S INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DES FEMMES MÉDECINS

President:

Prof. Fernanda de BENEDETTI-VENTURINI, Via Fratelli Ferrari 32/5, 1603l Genova-Bogliasco, Italy.

Secretary-General:

Dr Carolyn MOTZEL, MWIA Secretariat, Herbert-Lewin-Strasse l, 50931 Cologne, Germany.

Honorary-Treasurer:

Dr Lila STEIN KROSER, 2855 Welsh Road, Philadelphia, PA 19152-1697, USA.

WORLD MEDICAL ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION MEDICALE MONDIALE

President:

Dr Joseph L. PACE, Malta.

President-Elect:

Prof. Priscilla KINCAID SMITH, Australia.

Secretary-General:

Dr Ian FIELD, The World Medical Association, 28 avenue des Alpes, PO Box 63, 01212 Ferney-Voltaire Cedex, France.

Treasurer:

Prof. H.J. SEWERING, Mühlbaurstrasse 16, 8000 Munich 80, Germany.

Executive Director:

Mr Angel OROZCO, The World Medical Association, 28 avenue des Alpes, PO Box 63, 01212 Ferney-Voltaire Cedex, France.

NATIONAL MEMBERS

Argentina/Argentine

CONSEJO NACIONAL DE INVESTIGACIONES CIENTIFICAS Y TECNICAS (CONICET)

President:

Prof. Bernabé QUARTINO.

Head, International Relations: Prof. Alejandro FRERE

Director:

Prof. Osvaldo R. VIDAL, Rivadavia 1917, 1033 Buenos Aires, Argentina.

Australia/Australie

NATIONAL HEALTH AND MEDICAL RESEARCH COUNCIL

Chairman:

Prof. J.P. CHALMERS.

Secretary:

Mr Robert WELLS, PO Box 9848, Canberra City, ACT 2601, Australia.

Belgium/Belgique

COMITÉ DES ACADÉMIES ROYALES DE MÉDECINE

Secrétaires perpétuels:

Prof. A. de SCOVILLE, Delegate to CIOMS, Académie royale de Médecine de Belgique, Palais des Académies, rue Ducale 1, 1000 Brussels, Belgium. Prof. A. LACQUET, Koninklijke Academie voor Geneeskunde van België, Paleis der Academiën, Hertogstraat 1, 1000 Brussels, Belgium.

Bolivia/Bolivie

ACADEMIA NACIONAL DE CIENCIAS DE BOLIVIA

President:

Dr Luis Felipe HARTMANN, PO Box 5829, Av. 16 de Julio Nr. 1732, La Paz, Bolivia.

Brazil/Brésil

CONSELHO FEDERAL DE MEDICINA FEDERAL COUNCIL OF MEDICINE CONSEIL NATIONAL DE MÉDECINE

President:

Dr Ivan de ARAUJO MOURA FE.

Vice-President:

Dr Crescencio Antunes da SILVEIRA NETO.

Secretary-General:

Dr Hércules Sidnei PIRES LIBERAL.

Treasurer:

Mr Claudio de CARVALHO LISBOA.

Address:

Edificio Venancio 2000, Salas 702/52, Bloco B50 2.8, SCS Brasilia, D.F., CEP 70333, Brazil.

Bulgaria/Bulgarie

UNION OF THE SCIENTIFIC MEDICAL SOCIETIES OF BULGARIA UNION DES SOCIÉTÉS MÉDICALES SCIENTIFIQUES DE BULGARIE

President:

Prof. Natcho NATCHEFF.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Vitan VLAHOV, Serdika Street 2, 1000 Sofia, Bulgaria.

Canada

MEDICAL RESEARCH COUNCIL OF CANADA CONSEIL DE RECHERCHES MÉDICALES DU CANADA

President:

Prof. Henry FRIESEN.

Director of Finance:

Mr A. BELLIVEAU, Medical Research Council of Canada, Holland Cross, Tower B, 5th Floor, 1600 Scott Street, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0W9, Canada.

Czech Republic/ République tchèque

CESKOSLOVENSKA LEKARSKA SPOLECNOST J.E. PURKYNE CZECH MEDICAL ASSOCIATION J.E. PURKYNE ASSOCIATION MÉDICALE TCHÈQUE J.E. PURKYNE

President:

Prof. Jaroslav BLAHOS, Sokolska 31, 120 26 Prague 2, Czech Republic.

Denmark/Danemark

DET KONGELIGE DANSKE VIDENSKABERNES SELSKAB THE ROYAL DANISH ACADEMY OF SCIENCES AND LETTERS ACADÉMIE ROYALE DES SCIENCES ET DES LETTRES DU DANEMARK

President:

Prof. Erik DAL, H.C. Andersens Boulevard 35, 1553 Copenhagen V, Denmark.

Honorary Secretary:

Prof. Thor A. BAK, H.C. Andersens Boulevard 35, 1553 Copenhagen V, Denmark.

Chairman, CIOMS Committee:

Prof. J.C. SIIM, Rosenors Alle 10, 1634 Copenhagen V, Denmark.

Executive Secretary:

Ms Pia Beate GRUNER, H.C. Andersens Boulevard 35, 1553 Copenhagen V, Denmark.

Germany/Allemagne

DEUTSCHE FORSCHUNGSGEMEINSCHAFT

President:

Prof. Wolfgang FRUHWALD.

Secretary-General:

Mr Burkhart MULLER.

Head of Foreign Relations Department:

Dr Hans LEUTNER, Kennedyallee 40, 53175 Bonn, Germany.

Hungary/Hongrie

MAGYAR ORVOSTUDOMANYI TARSASAGOK ES EGYESULETE SZOVETSEGE (MOTESZ) FEDERATION OF HUNGARIAN MEDICAL SOCIETIES FÉDÉRATION DES SOCIÉTÉS MÉDICALES HONGROISES

President:

Prof. György BERENTEY.

Vice-President:

Prof. György SZEMERE.

President-Elect:

Prof. Otto RIBARI.

Past-President:

Prof. Janos FEHER.

Executive-President:

Prof. Ferenc VARNAI.

Executive Director:

Dr Szalma BELA.

Contact for CIOMS Affairs:

Dr Maria KISSNE KALMAR, Head of International Relations Section, Columbus u. ll, PO Box 32, 1145 Budapest, Hungary.

India/Inde

INDIAN COUNCIL OF MEDICAL RESEARCH

Director-General:

Dr A.S. PAINTAL.

Senior Deputy Director-General (Administration):

Shri M. LAKSHMINARAYANA, Ansari Nagar, PO Box 4508, New Delhi 110029, India.

Israel/Israël

THE ISRAEL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES ACADÉMIE DES SCIENCES ET DES LETTRES D'ISRAËL

President:

Prof. Joshua JORTNER.

Director:

Dr Meir ZADOK.

Secretary of Natural Sciences:

Dr Boaz AVRON.

Secretary of Humanities:

Mrs Leah TZIVONI.

Head of Foreign Relations:

Mr. Bob LAPIDOT, 43 Jabotinsky, PO Box 4040, Talbieh, 91040 Jerusalem, Israel.

Japan/Japon

SCIENCE COUNCIL OF JAPAN CONSEIL DES SCIENCES DU JAPON

President:

Prof. Jiro KONDO, Science Council of Japan, 22-34 Roppongi 7-chome, Minato-ku, Tokyo 160, Japan.

Vice-Presidents:

Prof. Yasuhiko OISHI (Cultural & Social Sciences).

Prof. Itaru WATANABE (Natural Sciences).

Treasurer and Director, Accounts Division. Dr Sejichi KAMIDANA.

Chairman, National Committee for CIOMS: Dr Kenzaburo TSUCHIYA.

Kuwait/Koweit

ISLAMIC ORGANIZATION FOR MEDICAL SCIENCES (IOMS)

President:

Dr Abdul Rhaman AL-AWADI.

Secretary-General:

Dr Ali Youssel AL-SAIF, Under-Secretary for Public Health Affairs, Ministry of Public Health, PO Box 5, Safat, Kuwait.

Assistant Secretary-General:

Dr Ahmed Rajai AL-GINDI, Ministry of Public Health, PO Box 5, Safat, Kuwait.

Lebanon/Liban

CONSEIL NATIONAL DE LA RECHERCHE SCIENTIFIQUE NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH

Président du Conseil d'administration: Mr Joseph NAGGEAR.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Mustapha SOUFI, Boîte postale 8281, Beirut, Lebanon.

Delegate to CIOMS:

Prof Sultan HAIDAR

Mexico/Méxique

ACADEMIA NACIONAL DE MEDICINA NATIONAL ACADEMY OF MEDICINE ACADÉMIE NATIONALE DE MÉDECINE

President:

Prof. Victor M. ESPINOSA DE LOS REYES S.

Vice-President:

Prof. Carlos CAMPILLO SERRANO.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Miguel TANIMOTO WEKI, Bloque «B», Unidad de Congresos del Centro Médical Nacional, Cuauhtémoc 330, 06725 México, D.F., Mexico.

Treasurer:

Dr Pelavo VILAR PUIG.

Assistant Secretary:

Dr Fermin Valenzuela GOMEZ GALLARDO.

Monaco

CENTRE SCIENTIFIQUE DE MONACO

President:

S.E.M. César Charles SOLAMITO, Ministre Plénipotentiaire.

President, Section CIOMS.

Dr André FISSORE.

Executive Secretary, Section CIOMS.

Mr Jacques SEMERIA, Boulevard de Suisse 16, Monte-Carlo (Pté), Monaco.

Nepal/Népal

NEPAL MEDICAL RESEARCH COMMITTEE COMITÉ NÉPALAIS DE LA RECHERCHE MÉDICALE

Secretary:

Dr D.D. JOSHI, Ministry of Health, Kathmandu, Nepal.

Netherlands/Pays-Bas

KONINKLIJE NEDERLANDSE AKADEMIE VAN WETENSCHAPPEN ROYAL NETHERLANDS ACADEMY OF ARTS AND SCIENCES ACADÉMIE ROYALE NÉERLANDAISE DES SCIENCES ET DES LETTRES

Secretary:

Prof. P.J.D. DRENTH, Het Trippenhuis Kloveniersburgwal 29, Postbus 19121, 1000 GC Amsterdam, Netherlands.

Director:

Prof. D. VAN DER MEI.

Secretary of the Medical Committee: Prof. A.B.M. KLAASSEN.

CIOMS Contact:

Prof. J.K.M. GEVERS, Instituut voor Sociale Geneeskunde UvA, AMC Gebouw J, Meibergdreef 15, 1105AZ Amsterdam, Netherlands.

New Zealand/Nouvelle-Zélande

THE HEALTH RESEARCH COUNCIL OF NEW ZEALAND

Chairman:

Mr J.K. GUTHRIE.

Director:

Dr. B.A. SCOGGINS.

Address:

PO Box 5541, Wellesley Street, Auckland, New Zealand.

Nigeria

NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR MEDICAL RESEARCH

Correspondence:

The Director, National Institute for Medical Research, Edmond Crescent (Off Murtala Muhammed Way), Private Mail Bag 2013, Yaba, Lagos, Nigeria.

Norway/Norvège

THE RESEARCH COUNCIL OF NORWAY THE NATIONAL COMMITTEE FOR MEDICAL RESEARCH ETHICS

Director:

Prof. Jan Helge SOLBAKK, Gaustad Alléen 21, 0371 Oslo 3, Norway.

Philippines

NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL OF THE PHILIPPINES

President:

Prof. Raul P. de GUZMAN.

Corporate Secretary:

Dr Magdalena C. CANTORIA, NRCP Building, General Santos Avenue, Bicutan, Tagig, Metro Manila 3136, Philippines.

Treasurer:

Prof. Cristina P. PAREL.

CIOMS Contact:

Prof. Paulo C. CAMPOS, President Emeritus.

Poland/Pologne

POLSKA ACADEMIA NAUK POLISH ACADEMY OF SCIENCES

Secretary of the Section of Medical Sciences:

Prof. Miroslaw J. MOSAKOWSKI, Palac Kultury i Nauki skrytka pocztowa 24, 00 901 Warsaw, Poland.

CIOMS Contact:

Prof. W. RUDOWSKI, Institute of Hematology, Chocimika 5, OO-957 Warsaw, Poland.

Romania/Roumanie

UNION OF THE SOCIETIES OF MEDICAL SCIENCES OF THE SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF ROMANIA UNION DES SOCIÉTÉS DES SCIENCES MÉDICALES DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE SOCIALISTE DE ROUMANIE

President:

Prof. Marin VOICULESCU.

Executive Secretary:

Prof. Emanoil POPESCU, lO Progresului Street, Bucharest, Romania.

Slovak Republic/République slovaque

SLOVENSKA LEKARSKA SPOLOCNOST SLOVAK MEDICAL ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION MÉDICALE SLOVAQUE

Address:

Legionarska 4, 813 22 Bratislava, Slovak Republic.

South Africa/Afrique du Sud

SOUTH AFRICAN MEDICAL RESEARCH COUNCIL

President:

Prof. O.W. PROZESKY.

CIOMS Contact:

Miss Riana COETSEE, Division Manager, International Liaison and Research Grants Administration, South African Medical Research Council, PO Box 19070, Tygerberg, Cape 7505, Republic of South Africa.

Sweden/Suède

THE SWEDISH MEDICAL RESEARCH COUNCIL CONSEIL SUÉDOIS DE LA RECHERCHE MÉDICALE

President:

Governor Bertil GORANSSON.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Tore SCHERSTEN, Regeringsgatan 56, Box 7151, 103 88 Stockholm, Sweden.

Delegate to CIOMS:

Prof. Henry DANIELSSON, c/o The Swedish Medical Research Council.

Switzerland/Suisse

ACADÉMIE SUISSE DES SCIENCES MÉDICALES SCHWEIZERISCHE AKADEMIE DER MEDIZINISCHEN WISSENSCHAFTEN ACADEMIA SVIZZERA DELLE SCIENZE MEDICHE

President:

Prof. A.F. MULLER.

Secretary-General:

Dr J. GELZER, Schweizerische Akademie der Medizinischen Wissenschaften, Petersplatz 13, 4051 Basel, Switzerland.

President of Central Ethics Commission:

Prof. Walter HITZIG, Président de la Commission centrale d'éthique de l'ASSM, 65 Bergstrasse, 8032 Zurich, Switzerland.

United States of America/Etats-Unis d'Amérique

NATIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE

President

Prof. K. SHINE, National Academy of Sciences, Institute of Medicine, 2101 Constitution Avenue, Washington, DC 20418, USA.

Director - Division of International Health:

Dr Polly F. HARRISON, Ph.D, Room IOM 307, 2101 Constitution Avenue, Washington, DC 20418, USA.

Delegate to CIOMS:

Prof. J.H. BRYANT, PO Box 177, Moscow, Vermont 05662, USA.

ASSOCIATE MEMBERS

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL ON ALCOHOL AND ADDICTIONS CONSEIL INTERNATIONAL SUR LES PROBLÉMES DE L'ALCOOLISME ET DES TOXICOMANIES

President:

Mr Stein BERG, c/o Rusmiddeldirektoratet, Postboks 8152 Dep., 0033 Oslo l, Norway.

Executive Director and Treasurer:

Dr Eva TONGUE, ICAA/CIPAT, Case postale 189, 1001 Lausanne, Switzerland.

CONSULTA LAICA DI BIOETICA

President:

Prof. Renato BOERI.

Vice-President:

Prof. Giuseppe LO JACONO.

Secretary:

Prof. Maurizio MORI.

Treasurer:

Dr Marina TASSARA ALBIZZATI.

Address:

Via G. Sirtori 33, 20129 Milan, Italy.

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF BIOCHEMISTRY AND MOLECULAR BIOLOGY UNION INTERNATIONALE DE BIOCHIMIE ET BIOLOGIE MOLÉCULAIRE

President:

Prof. Sir Hans KORNBERG, FRS, Master's Lodge, Christ's College, Cambridge CB2 3BU, UK.

General Secretary:

Prof. Horst KLEINKAUF, Institute of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Technical University Berlin, Franklinstrasse 29, 10587 Berlin, Germany.

Treasurer:

Prof. Anthony W. LINNANE, Centre for Molecular Biology and Medicine, Monash University, Clayton, Victoria, Australia 3168.

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES (IUBS) UNION INTERNATIONALE DES SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES (UISB)

President:

Prof. J. SALANKI, Balaton Limnological Research Institute, HAS, 8237 Tihany, Hungary.

Secretary-General:

Prof. G. NICOLIS, Service de Chimie Physique, C.P. 23l, Campus Plaine, UL.B., Boulevard de Triomphe, 1050 Brussels, Belgium.

Treasurer:

Prof. D.F. ROBERTS, Dept. of Human Genetics, The University, 19 Claremont Place, Newcastle-upon-Tyne NE2 4AA, UK.

Executive Secretary:

Dr Talal YOUNES, IUBS Secretariat, 51 boulevard de Montmorency, 75016 Paris, France.

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF BLOOD TRANSFUSION (ISBT) SOCIÉTÉ INTERNATIONALE DE TRANSFUSION SANGUINE (SITS)

Second Acting Secretary-General: Dr H. GUNSON, UK.

Treasurer:

Dr W. WAGSTAFF, UK.

Address:

ISBT Central Office, Boîte postale 100, 91943 Les Ulis Cedex, France.

CONFEDERATION OF AFRICAN MEDICAL ASSOCIATIONS AND SOCIETIES (CAMAS) CONFÉDÉRATION DES ASSOCIATIONS ET SOCIÉTÉS MÉDICALES D'AFRIQUE (CASMA)

President:

Prof. Edouard GOUDOTE, Benin Republic.

President-Elect:

Dr M.S. ABDULLAH, Kenya.

Secretary-General:
Prof. Ope O. ADEKUNLE, Department of Surgery, University College Hospital, Ibadan, Nigeria.

Treasurer:

Dr Koffi DSANE-SELBY, Ghana.

AMERICAN COLLEGE OF CHEST PHYSICIANS

President:

Dr Paul D. STEIN.

Immediate Past-President: Dr Roger C. BONE.

Treasurer:

Dr Mitchell L. RHODES.

Executive Director:

Mr Alvin LEAVER, 3300 Dundee Road, Northbrook, Illinois 60062-2348, USA.

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF CLINICAL CHEMISTRY FÉDÉRATION INTERNATIONALE DE CHIMIE CLINIQUE

President:

Prof. Gérard SIEST, Centre du Médicament, Université de Nancy l, 30 rue Lionnois, 54000 Nancy, France.

Vice-President:

Prof. Matthew J. McQUEEN, Department of Clinical Chemistry, Hamilton Genera Hospital Barton Street East, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada L8L 2X2.

Secretary:

Dr Peter GARCIA-WEBB, Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre, Verdun Street, Nedlands, Western Australia 6009.

Treasurer:

Dr Nico C. den BOER, Department of Clinical Chemistry, St Antonius. Ziekenhuis, Koekoekslaan I, 3435 CM Nieuwegein, Netherlands.

IFCC Technical Secretariat:

Centre du Médicament, Université de Nancy 1, 30 rue Lionnois, 54000 Nancy, France.

ASSOCIATION INTERNATIONALE DE MÉDECINE ET BIOLOGIE DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MEDICINE AND BIOLOGY OF THE ENVIRONMENT

Président Délégué Général:

Dr Richard ABBOU, 115 rue de la Pompe, 75116 Paris, France.

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY FOR DISEASES OF THE ESOPHAGUS

President:

Prof. Jorg R. SIEWERT, Chirurgische Klinik der TU München, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Ismaninger Strasse 22, 8000 Munich 80, Germany.

Vice-President:

Prof. David B. SKINNER, President, The New York Hospital, Cornell Medical Center, New York, NY 10021, USA.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Kiyoshi INOKUCHI, ISDE Secretariat, Institute of Gastroenterology, Tokyo Women's Medical College, 8-1 Kawadacho, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 162, Japan.

Treasurer:

Prof. Seiichiro KOBAYASHI, ISDE Secretariat.

WORLD ORGANIZATION OF FAMILY DOCTORS (WONCA)

President:

Dr Peter C.Y. LEE, 19 Hennessy Road, 14th floor, Hong Kong.

Honorary Secretary/Treasurer and CIOMS Contact:

Prof. Wes E. FABB, WONCA Secretariat, Department of Community and Family Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, 4th Floor, Lek Yen Health Centre, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF IMMUNOLOGICAL SOCIETIES UNION INTERNATIONALE DES SOCIÉTÉS D'IMMUNOLOGIE

President:

Prof. Jacob B. NATVIG, Institute of Immunology and Rheumatology, Rikshospitalet University Hospital, Oslo, Norway.

Vice-President:

Dr Henry METZGER, NIAMS, Building 10, Room 9N228, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD 20892, USA.

Secretary-General and CIOMS Contact:

Dr Ruth ARNON, Department of Chemical Immunology, The Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot 76100, Israel.

Treasurer:

Prof. Paul NIEUWENHUIS, Dept. of Histology and Cell Biology, University Faculty of Medicine, Oostersingel 69-1, 9713 EZ Groningen, Netherlands.

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL FOR LABORATORY ANIMAL SCIENCE (ICLAS) CONSEIL INTERNATIONAL DES SCIENCES DE L'ANIMAL DE LABORATOIRE

President:

Dr Stian ERICHSEN, National Institute of Public Health, Geitmyrsveien 75, 0462 Oslo 4, Norway.

Secretary-General:

Prof. Osmo HANNINEN, Department of Physiology, University of Kuopio, PO Box 1627, 70211 Kuopio, Finland.

Treasurer:

Dr Dieter ADAMIKER, Forschunginstitut für Veruchstierzucht (FIV), Universität Wien, Brauhausgasse 34, 2325 Himberg, Austria.

ACADEMY OF MEDICAL, DENTAL AND PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES OF JAPAN

Delegate to CIOMS:

Prof. K. YAGI, c/o Institute of Applied Biochemistry, Yagi Memorial Park, Mitake, Gifu 505-01, Japan.

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF MICROBIOLOGICAL SOCIETIES UNION INTERNATIONALE DES SOCIÉTÉS DE MICROBIOLOGIE

President:

Dr Rita R. COLWELL, Maryland, USA.

Secretary-General:

Dr Marc H.V. van REGENMORTEL, Institut de Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire du CNRS, 15 rue René Descartes, 67084 Strasbourg Cedex, France.

Treasurer:

Dr Graham G. STEWART, Labatt Brewing Company Ltd., 150 Simcoe Street, London, Ontario, Canada N6A 4M3.

COMITÉ INTERNATIONAL DE MÉDECINE ET DE PHARMACIE MILITAIRES INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE OF MILITARY MEDICINE

Président:

General Inspector Médico A. LAIN GONZALEZ, Spain.

Secrétaire général:

Méd. Lt Col. M. COOLS, rue Saint-Laurent 79, 4000 Liège, Belgium.

Secrétaire général adjoint:

Méd. Col. J. SANABRIA, rue Saint-Laurent 79, 4000 Liège, Belgium.

FONDS NATIONAL DE LA RECHERCHE SCIENTIFIQUE (FNRS) NATIONAL FUND FOR SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH (NFSR)

Secretary-General:

Mr Paul LEVAUX, Fonds national de la Recherche Scientifique, 5 rue d'Egmont, 1050 Brussels, Belgium.

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF NUTRITIONAL SCIENCES (IUNS) UNION INTERNATIONALE DES SCIENCES DE LA NUTRITION

President:

Prof. J.E. DUTRA DE OLIVEIRA, Faculdade de Medicina, 141.00 Ribeirao Preto, SP, Brazil.

Secretary-General:

Prof. J.G.A.J. HAUTVAST, Department of Human Nutrition, Wagemingen Agricultural University, PO Box 8129, 6700 EV Wageningen, Netherlands.

Treasurer:

Prof. E. MENDEN, Institute of Nutrition, Wilhelmstrasse 20, 35392 Giessen, Germany.

ASIA OCEANIA FEDERATION OF OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY

President:

Professor S. KOETSAWANG

President-Elect:

Dr. J.R. RELACION

Treasurer:

Professor V. SIVANESARATNAM

Co-Chairman, Committee on Ethics:

Dr José R. RELACION, Medical Center Manila, 1122 General Luna Street, Ermita, D-406, Manila, Philippines.

ASIA PACIFIC ACADEMY OF OPHTHALMOLOGY

Secretary-General:

Prof. Arthur S.M. LIM, Singapore National Eye Center, ll Third Hospital Avenue, Singapore O316.

Treasurer:

Dr William Kin-Ying LEUNG, Room 309, Tung Ping Building, 157-159 Prince Edward Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

INTERNATIONAL MEDICAL SOCIETY OF PARAPLEGIA

President:

Dr Paul DOLLFUS, 72 rue des Carrières, 68100 Mulhouse, France.

Honorary Secretary:

Mr Isaac NUSEIBEH, National Spinal Injuries Centre, Stoke Mandeville Hospital, Aylesbury, Bucks HP21 8AL, UK.

Honorary Treasurer:

Mr B.P. GARDNER, National Spinal Injuries Centre, Stoke Mandeville Hospital, Aylesbury, Bucks HP21 8AL, UK.

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF ORAL PATHOLOGISTS

President:

Dr Alain J. DRINNAN, State University of New York, Dental School, Main Street, Buffalo, NY 14214, USA.

Secretary/Treasurer:

Dr W.H. BINNIE, Baylor College of Dentistry, 3302 Gaston Avenue, Dallas, Texas 75246, USA.

WORLD ASSOCIATION OF SOCIETIES OF PATHOLOGY (ANATOMIC AND CLINICAL) ASSOCIATION MONDIALE DES SOCIÉTÉS DE PATHOLOGIE (ANATOMIQUE ET CLINIQUE)

President:

Dr Tadashi KAWAI, Department of Clinical Pathology, Jichi Medical School, Minami, Kawachi-machi, Tochigi, 32904 Japan.

Vice-President:

Dr Peter B. HERDSON, Director, Pathology Department, Royal Canberra Hospital, PO Box II, Woden, ACT 2606, Australia.

Secretary-General:

Dr George W. PENNINGTON, «Sullane», Eaton Hill, Baslow, Derbs DE4 ISB, UK.

Treasurer:

Dr William B. ZEILER, Clinical Pathology Facility, Associated Pathologists Laboratories, 711 Bingham Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15203, USA.

Executive Director:

Prof. Mikio MORI, The WASP Administrative Office, c/o Japan Clinical Pathology Foundation for International Exchange, Sakura-Sugamo Building 7F, Sugamo 2-11-1, Toshima-ku, Tokyo, Japan 170.

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY FOR PHARMACOEPIDEMIOLOGY (ISPE)

President:

Dr Bengt-Erik WIHOLM, Associate Professor, Medical Products Agency, Box 26, 75l 03 Uppsala, Sweden.

President-Elect:

Dr Brian STROM.

Executive Director:

Dr Stanley A. EDLAVITCH, Professor of Preventive Medicine, University of Kansas Medical Center, Dept. of Preventive Medicine, 3901 Rainbow Boulevard, Robinson 4004, Kansas City, KS 66160-7313, USA.

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF PHYSIOLOGICAL SCIENCES UNION INTERNATIONALE DES SCIENCES PHYSIOLOGI-QUES

President:

Prof. M. ITO, Japan.

Secretary:

Prof. D. NOBLE, UK.

Treasurer:

Prof. Harvey SPARKS, IUPS Executive Office, Department of Physiology, 240 Giltner Hall, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan 48824-1101, USA.

WORLD FEDERATION OF ASSOCIATIONS OF POISONS CENTRES AND CLINICAL TOXICOLOGY FÉDÉRATION MONDIALE DES ASSOCIATIONS DE CENTRES ANTIPOISONS ET DE TOXICOLOGIE CLINIQUE

President:

Prof. A. FURTADO RAHDE, Rua Riachuello 677-Ap. 201, 90010 Porto Alegre, Brazil.

Secretary-General:

Prof. J. DESCOTES, Centre Anti-Poisons, Hôpital E. Herriot, 69003 Lyon, France.

Treasurer:

Dr Manuel REPETTO, Instituto Regional de Toxicologia, A. Postal 863, 41080 Seville, Spain.

General Scretariat:

c/o International Agency for Cancer Research, 150 cours Albert Thomas, 69007 cours Albert Thomas, 69007 Lyon, France.

ZRZESZENIE POLSKICH TOWARZYSTW MEDYCZNCH FEDERATION OF POLISH MEDICAL SOCIETIES

President of Council:

Prof. Dr Boleslaw GORNICKI.

President of Executive Board:

Prof. Dr Alicja RYZEWSKA.

Director General:

Dr Méd. Cesary KORCZAK, ul. Karowa 31, 00324 Warsaw, Poland.

COLLÈGE D'ENSEIGNEMENT POST-UNIVERSITAIRE DE RADIOLOGIE POSTGRADUATE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE FOR RADIOLOGY EDUCATION

President:

Prof. L. JEANMART, 236 avenue Winston Churchill, Boîte postale 4, 1180 Brussels, Belgium.

Secretary-General:

Dr J. SOUTTER, Centre hospitalier de Mulhouse, Hôpital du Moenschsberg, Boîte postale 1370, 68070 Mulhouse Cedex, France.

CIOMS Contact:

Prof. R. CHRZANOWSKI, 14 chemin des Planchamps, 1066 Epalinges, Switzerland.

REHABILITATION INTERNATIONAL

President:

Mr Fenmore SETON.

Secretary-General:

Mrs Susan HAMMERMAN, Rehabilitation International, 25 East 21st Street, New York, NY 10010, USA.

Treasurer:

Adm. David M. COONEY.

SOCIEDAD SAUDE E VALORES HUMANOS SOCIETY OF HEALTH AND HUMAN VALUES

President:

Dr Aristides MALTEZ FILHO.

Vice-President:

Dr Antonio BRANDAO DE SOUZA.

Secretary:

Dr Artur VENTURA DE MATOS.

Treasurer:

Dr Eurico GOULART DE FREITAS.

Address:

Rua Manoel Barreto 208, Graça. Salvador, Bahia, Brazil CEP 40150.

INTERNATIONAL MEDICAL SCIENCES ACADEMY

Secretary-General:

Lt. Gen. J.M. GROVER.

Address:

2nd floor, National Medical Library Building, Ring Road, Ansari Nagar, New Delhi 110 029, India.

WORLD FEDERATION OF SPINE SURGEONS AND SPONDYLIATRISTS

President:

Prof. G., SWIDERSKI, Academy of Sciences for Human Axial Organs, ul. Asnyka 30, 51-143 Wroclaw, Poland.

President-Elect:

Prof. Hermann NEUGEBAUER, Wielemansgasse 28, 1180 Wien Gersthof, Austria.

Secretary:

Prof. Jerzy PRZYBYLSKI, ul Kolbudzewska 48, 53-404 Wroclaw, Poland. (Director of Regional Orthopedics and Rehabilitation Hospital for Children, Trzebnica, by Wroclaw).

CIOMS Contact:

Dr H.-J. HACHEN, Médecin-chef, Centre de Paraplégiques (Beau-Séjour), Hôpital Cantonal Universitaire, 1211 Geneva 4, Switzerland.

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF MEDICAL STUDENT ASSOCIATIONS (IFMSA) FÉDÉRATION INTERNATIONALE DES ASSOCIATIONS D'ÉTUDIANTS EN MÉDECINE

President:

Ms Monique DE VOIGT, Mgr v.d. Wetering straat 120 bis, 3581 EM Utrecht, Netherlands.

Treasurer:

Mr Paulo Alexandre FARIA BOTO, Rua Eng Duarte Pacheco 1A, 1Dto, 2700 Amadora, Portugal.

General Secretariat:

Faculteit der Geneeskunde, Academisch Medisch Centrum, Meibergdreef 15, 1105 AZ Amsterdam, Netherlands.

INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY FOR TECHNOLOGY ASSESSMENT IN HEALTH CARE

President:

Dr Jane E. SISK, Columbia University School of Public Health, New York, NY, USA.

Vice-President:

Prof. Tore SCHERSTEN, University of Göteborg, Göteborg, Sweden.

Secretary:

Dr Richard S. CHRZANOWSKI, Swiss Public Health Institute, SKI, Pfrundweg 14, 5001 Aarau, Switzerland.

Treasurer:

Dr Ruth S. HANFT, George Washington University, Washington DC, USA.

THE TRANSPLANTATION SOCIETY SOCIÉTÉ DE TRANSPLANTATION

President:

Prof. Thomas E. STARZL, Department of Surgery, University of Pittsburgh, 3601 Fifth Avenue, 5C Falk Clinic, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA.

Vice-President (Western Hemisphere):

Prof. Nicholas L. TILNEY, The Brigham & Women's Hospital, 75 Francis Street, Boston, MA 02115, USA.

Vice-President (Eastern Hemisphere):

Mr Robert A. SELLS, Director, Renal Transplant Unit, Royal Liverpool Hospital, Prescott Street, Liverpool L7 8XP, UK.

Secretary (Western Hemisphere):

Prof. Ronald M. FERGUSON, Ohio State University Hospital, Division of Transplantation, 258 Means Hall, 1654 Upham Drive, Columbus, Ohio 43210, USA.

Secretary (Eastern Hemisphere):

Prof. John FABRE, Blond McIndoe Centre, Queen Victoria Hospital, East Grinstead, West Sussex RH19 3DZ, UK.

Treasurer (Western Hemisphere):

Prof. Barry D. KAHAN, The University of Texas Medical School at Houston, Organ Transplantation, 6431 Fannin, MSMB 6240, Houston, Texas 77030, USA.

Treasurer (Eastern Hemisphere):

Dr J.D. BRIGGS, Renal Unit, Western Infirmary, Glasgow G1 6NT, Scotland, UK.

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION FOR TROPICAL MEDICINE

President:

Dr Adetokunbo O. LUCAS, Carnegie Corporation, 437 Madison Avenue, New York, NY 10022, USA.

Secretary-General and Delegate to CIOMS;

Dr William A. SODEMAN, Jr., Chief, Division of Gastroenterology, Medical College of Ohio, Department of Medicine, PO Box 10008, Toledo, Ohio 43699-0008, USA.

Treasurer:

Dr Peter TUGWELL, McMaster University Medical Center, Room 2C16, 1200 Main Street, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada 38N 5Z3, USA.

INTERNATIONAL CONGRESSES OF TROPICAL MEDICINE AND MALARIA CONGRÈS INTERNATIONAUX DE MÉDECINE TROPICALE ET DU PALUDISME

Secretary-General:

Dr E.C. GARCIA, Institute of Public Health, University of the Philippines System, PO Box EA-460, Manila, Philippines.

CIOMS Contact:

Prof. J. PAPAVASSILIOU, Professor of Microbiology, University of Athens, 109 Leoforos Kiffisias, 11524 Athens, Greece.

WORLD VETERINARY ASSOCIATION ASSOCIATION MONDIALE VÉTÉRINAIRE

President:

Mr J.T. BLACKBURN, 65a Shelfort Road, Trumpington, Cambridge CB2 2NB, UK.

Secretary-General:

Mr E. AALBERS, WVA Secretariat, Calle Principe de Vergara No. 276, 6th floor, Apartment E, 28016 Madrid, Spain.

INDEX OF ORGANIZATIONS

INTERNATIONAL MEMBERS

| World Federation for MEDICAL EDUCATION Fédération mondiale de l'Education médicale | 47 |
|---|----|
| World Federation of NEUROLOGY Fédération mondiale de Neurologie | 48 |
| International Federation of CLINICAL NEUROPHYSIOLOGY Fédération internationale de Neurophysiologie Clinique | 48 |
| International Council of NURSES | 48 |
| International Federation of OTORHINOLARYNGOLOGICAL Societies Fédération internationale des Sociétés d'Oto-Rhino-Laryngologie | 49 |
| International PEDIATRIC Association Association internationale de Pédiatrie | 49 |
| World Federation of Associations of PEDIATRIC SURGEONS Fédération mondiale des Associations de Chirurgiens Pédiatres | 49 |
| International Federation of PHYSICAL MEDICINE and REHABILITATION Fédération internationale de Médecine Physique et Réadaptation | 50 |
| World PSYCHIATRIC Association Association mondiale de Psychiatrie | 50 |
| International REHABILITATION MEDICINE Association (IRMA) Association internationale de Réadaptation Médicale | 51 |
| International League against RHEUMATISM (ILAR) Ligue internationale contre le Rhumatisme | 51 |
| International RHINOLOGIC Society Société internationale Rhinologique | 52 |
| International College of SURGEONS Collège international des Chirurgiens | 52 |
| International Federation of SURGICAL Colleges | 52 |
| World Federation for ULTRASOUND in MEDICINE and BIOLOGY | 53 |
| MEDICAL WOMEN'S International Association Association internationale des Femmes Médecins | 53 |
| World MEDICAL Association Association Médicale Mondiale | 54 |

NATIONAL MEMBERS

| Argentina/Argentine Consejo nacional de investigaciones cientificas y tecnicas (CONICET) | 55 |
|--|----|
| Australia/Australie National Health and Medical Research Council | 55 |
| Belgium/Belgique Comité des Académies royales de Médecine | 55 |
| Bolivia/Bolivie Academia nacional de ciencias de Bolivia | |
| Brazil/Brésil Conselho Federal de Medicina Federal Council of Medicine Conseil National de Médecine | 56 |
| Bulgaria/Bulgarie Union of the Scientific Medical Societies of Bulgaria Union des Sociétés Médicales Scientifiques de Bulgarie | 56 |
| Canada Medical Research Council of Canada Conseil de Recherches Médicales du Canada | 57 |
| Czech Republic/République tchèque Ceskoslovenska Lekarska Spolecnost J.E. Purkyne Czech Medical Association J.E. Purkyne Association Médicale Tchèque J.E. Purkyne | 57 |
| Denmark/Danemark Det Kongelige Danske Videnskabernes Selskab The Royal Danish Academy of Sciences and Letters Académie royale des Sciences et des Lettres du Danemark | 57 |
| Germany/Allegmagne Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft | 58 |
| Hungary/Hongrie Magyar Orvostudomanyi Tarsasagok es Egyesuletek Szovetsege (MOTESZ) Federation of Hungarian Medical Societies Federation des Sociétés Médicales Hongroises | 58 |
| India/Inde Indian Council of Medical Research | 59 |
| Israel/Israël The Israel Academy of Sciences and Humanities Académie des Sciences et des Lettres d'Israël | 59 |

| Japan/Japon Science Council of Japan Conseil des Sciences du Japon | 59 |
|--|----|
| Kuwait/Koweit Islamic Organization for Medical Sciences (IOMS) | 60 |
| Lebanon /Liban Conseil National de la Recherche Scientifique National Council for Scientific Research | 60 |
| Mexico/Méxique Academia Nacional de Medicina National Academy of Medicine Académie Nationale de Médecine | 61 |
| Monaco Centre Scientifique de Monaco | 61 |
| Nepal/Népal Nepal Medical Research Committee Comité Népalais de la Recherche Médicale | 61 |
| Netherlands/Pays-Bas Koninklije Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen Royal Netherlands Academy of Arts and Sciences Académie Royale Néerlandaise des Sciences et des Lettres | 62 |
| New Zealand/Nouvelle-Zélande The Health Research Council of New Zealand | 62 |
| Nigeria National Institute for Medical Research | 62 |
| Norway/Norvège The Research Council of Norway The National Committee for Medical Research Ethics | 63 |
| Philippines National Research Council of the Philippines | 63 |
| Poland/Pologne Polska Academia Nauk Polish Academy of Sciences | 63 |
| Romania/Roumanie Union of the Societies of Medical Sciences of the Socialist Republic of Romania Union des Sociétés des Sciences Médicales de la République Socialiste de Roumanie | 64 |
| Slovak Republic/République slovaque Slovenska Lekarska Spolocnost Slovak Medical Association | 64 |

| South Africa/Afrique du Sud South African Medical Research Council | 64 |
|--|----|
| Sweden/Suède The Swedish Medical Research Council Conseil Suédois de la Recherche Médicale | 64 |
| Switzerland/Suisse Académie Suisse des Sciences Médicales Schweizerische Akademie der Medizinischen Wissenschaften Academia Svizzera delle Scienze Mediche | 65 |
| United States of America/Etats-Unis d'Amérique National Academy of Sciences Institute of Medicine | 65 |
| | |
| ASSOCIATE MEMBERS | |
| International Council on ALCOHOL and ADDICTIONS Conseil international sur les Problèmes de l'Alcoolisme et des Toxicomanies | 66 |
| Consulta Laica di BIOETICA | 66 |
| International Union of BIOCHEMISTRY and MOLECULAR BIOLOGY Union international de Biochimie et Biologie Moléculaire | 66 |
| International Union of BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES (IUBS) Union internationale des Sciences Biologiques (UISB) | 67 |
| International Society of BLOOD TRANSFUSION (ISBT) Société internationale de Transfusion Sanguine (SITS) | 67 |
| Confederation of African Medical Associations and Societies (CAMAS) Confédération des Associations et Sociétés Médicales d'Afrique (CASMA) | 67 |
| American College of CHEST PHYSICIANS | 68 |
| International Federation of CLINICAL CHEMISTRY Fédération internationale de Chimie Clinique | 68 |
| Association internationale de Médecine et Biologie de l'ENVIRONNEMENT International Association of Medicine and Biology of the Environment | 69 |
| International Society for DISEASES of the ESOPHAGUS | 69 |
| World Organization of FAMILY DOCTORS (WONCA) | 69 |

| International Union of IMMUNOLOGICAL Societies Union internationale des Sociétés d'Immunologie | 70 |
|--|----|
| International Council for LABORATORY ANIMAL SCIENCE (ICLAS) Conseil international des Sciences de l'Animal de Laboratoire | 70 |
| Academy of MEDICAL, DENTAL and PHARMACEUTICAL SCIENCES of Japan | 70 |
| International Union of MICROBIOLOGICAL Societies Union internationale des Sociétés de Microbiologie | 71 |
| Comité international de MEDECINE et de PHARMACIE MILITAIRES International Committee of Military Medicine | 71 |
| Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique (FNRS) National Fund for Scientific Research (NFSR) | 71 |
| International Union of NUTRITIONAL SCIENCES (IUNS) Union internationale des Sciences de la Nutrition | 71 |
| Asia Oceania Federation of OBSTETRICS and GYNECOLOGY | 72 |
| Asia Pacific Academy of OPHTHALMOLOGY | 72 |
| International Medical Society of PARAPLEGIA | 72 |
| International Association of ORAL PATHOLOGISTS | 73 |
| World Association of Societies of PATHOLOGY (Anatomic and Clinical) Association mondiale des Sociétés de Pathologie (Anatomique et Clinique) | 73 |
| International Society for PHARMACOEPIDEMIOLOGY (ISPE) | 74 |
| International Union of PHYSIOLOGICAL SCIENCES Union international des Sciences Physiologiques | 74 |
| World Federation of Associations of POISONS Centres and Clinical TOXICOLOGY Fédération mondiale des Associations de Centres ANTIPOISONS et de TOXICOLOGIE Clinique | 74 |
| Zrzeszenie Polskich Towarzystw Medycznch Federation of Polish Medical Societies | |
| College d'Enseignement Post-Universitaire de RADIOLOGIE Postgraduate University College for Radiology Education | 75 |
| REHABILITATION International | 75 |
| Sociedad Saude e Valores Humanos Society of Health and Human Values | 76 |
| International Medical SCIENCES Academy | 76 |
| World Federation of SPINE SURGEONS and SPONDYLIATRISTS | 76 |

| International Federation of Medical STUDENT Associations (IFMSA) Fédération internationale des Associations d'Etudiants en Médecine | 77 |
|---|----|
| International Society for TECHNOLOGY ASSESSMENT in Health Care | 77 |
| The TRANSPLANTATION Society Société de Transplantation | 78 |
| International Federation for TROPICAL MEDICINE | 78 |
| International Congress of TROPICAL MEDICINE and MALARIA Congrès internationaux de Médecine Tropicale et du Paludisme | 79 |
| World VETERINARY Association | 79 |
| | |

INDEX OF OFFICERS

Aalbers, E., 79
Abbou, R., 69
Abdullah, M.S., 67
Adamiker, D., 70
Adekunle, O.O., 68
Ajayi, O.O., 52
Al-Awadi, A.R., 10, 60
Al-Gindi, A.R., 60
Al-Saif, A.Y., 60
Alberti, P.W., 49
Araujo Moura Fe, I. de, 56
Arinoviche, R., 51
Arnon, R., 70
Ashcraft, K.W., 49
Avron, B., 59

Baettig, K., 43 Bak, T.A., 57 Bankowski, Z., 10 Bär, W., 47 Belliveau, A., 57 Bela, S., 58 Benedetti-Venturini, F. de, 53 Berentey, G., 58 Berg, S., 66 Biname, G., 46 Binnie, W.H., 73 Bircher, J., 10, 47 Blackburn, J.T., 79 Blahos, J., 10, 57 Boer, N.C. den, 68 Boeri, R., 66 Boix-Ochoa, J., 50 Bone, R.C., 68 Bouchier, I.A.D., 45 Brandao de Souza, A., 76 Briggs, J.D., 78 Brinkmann, B., 47 Bryant, J.H., 10, 65 Burger, M.M., 42 Byk, C., 10, 46

Campillo Serrano, C., 61 Campos, P.C., 63 Canizares, O., 44 Cantoria, M.C., 63 Cardenas-Escovar, A., 46 Caruso, G., 48 Carvalho Lisboa, C. de, 56 Cauwenberge, P. van, 52 Chalem, F., 45 Chalmers, J.P., 55 Chang, J.B., 41 Chrzanowski, R., 75, 77 Cipollaro, V., 44 Classen, M., 45 Clement, P.A.R., 52 Coetsee, R., 64 Colwell, R.R., 71 Cools, M., 71 Cooney, D.M., 76 Costa e Silva, J.A., 50

Dal, E., 57
Danielsson, H., 10, 65
Davies, R.J., 41
Dsane-Selby, K., 68
Dequeker, J., 51
Descotes, J., 74
Dogramaci, I., 49
Dollfus, P., 72
Drenth, P.J.D., 62
Drinnan, A.J., 73
Durham Smith, E., 52
Dutra de Oliveira, J.E., 71

Eckhardt, S., 42 Edlavitch, S.A., 74 Erdman, W.J., 50 Erichsen, S., 70 Espinosa de Los Reyes, V.M., 61

Fabb, W.E., 69
Fabre, J., 78
Faria Boto, P.A., 77
Feher, J., 58
Ferguson, R.M., 78
Field, I., 10, 54
Figueiredo, M.B. de, 43
Fissore, A., 61
Francson, E., 47
Friesen, H., 57

Free, A., 55 Fruhwald, W., 58 Fukuda, M., 53 Furtado Rahde, A., 74

Garcia, E.C., 79 Garcia-Webb, P., 68 Gardner, B.P., 73 Geenen, J.E., 45 Gellhorn, A., 10 Gelzer, J., 65 Gestel, A.P.M. van, 50 Gevers, J.K.M., 62 Godfrey, C.M., 50 Goldberg, B.B., 53 Gomez Gallardo, F.V., 61 Gonzales Giralda, R., 43 Gorannsson, B., 64 Gornicki, B., 75 Goudote, E., 67 Goulart de Freitas, E., 76 Grabois, M., 51 Groszman, R.J., 47 Grover, J.M., 76 Gruner, P.B., 57 Gunson, H., 67 Guthrie, J.K., 62 Guzman, R.P. de, 63

Haag, M., 46
Hachen, H.J., 10, 41, 51, 77
Haidar, S., 60
Hammerman, S., 75
Hanft, R.S., 77
Hanninen, O., 70
Harrison, P.F., 65
Hartmann, L.P., 56
Hautvast, J.G.A.J., 72
Herdson, P.B., 73
Hitzig, W., 65
Holleran, C., 48
Horvath, M., 43
Hussey, R.F., 43
Hyhus, L.M., 52

Iber, R., 41 Inokuchi, K., 69 Ito, M., 74 Jacobson, C., 44 Jeanmart, L., 75 Jervell, J., 45 Jiminez, J., 50 Jochheim, K.A., 51 Jortner, J., 59 Joshi, D.D., 61

Kahan, B.D., 78 Kamidana, S., 60 Kaplan, A., 41 Kawai, T., 73 Kelly, D.T., 42 Kerdel-Vegas, F., 44 Kim, M.-I., 48 Kimura, J., 48 Kincaid Smith, P., 54 Kissne Kalmar, M., 58 Klaassen, A.B.M., 62 Kleinkauf, H., 66 Kobayashi, S., 69 Koetsawang, S., 72 Kondo, J., 59 Korczak, C., 75 Kornberg, H., 66 Koskinen, M.-K-., 46

Lacquet, A., 55 Lain Gonzalez, A., 71 Lakshminarayana, M., 59 Lapidot, B., 59 Leaver, A., 68 Lee, P.C.Y., 69 Leung, W.K.-Y., 72 Leutner, H., 58 Levaux, P., 71 Lieh Mak, F., 50 Lim, A.S.M., 72 Lindholm, U.-B., 46 Linnane, A.W., 67 Lo Jacono, G., 66 Lopez-Ibor, J.J., 50 Lucas, A.O., 78

Maltez Filho, A., 76 Mascaro, J.M., 44 Maier, W.A., 50 Mayes, W., 45 McQueen, M.J., 68 Mei, D. van der, 62 Menden, E., 72 Metzger, H., 70 Meyer, M., 48 Miyamoto, T., 41 Molino-Arino, A., 51 Mollet, E., 46 Mori, Maurizio, 66 Mori, Mikio, 73 Mosakowski, M., 63 Motzel, C., 10, 53 Muller, A.F., 65 Muller, B., 58 Muller, S.A., 44 Murphy, G.P., 42

Naggear, J., 60 Naranjo, P., 46 Natcheff, N., 10, 56 Natelson, B.H., 43 Natvig, J.B., 70 Neugebauer, H., 76 Nicolis, G., 67 Niemeyer, W., 42 Niewenhuis, P., 70 Noble, D., 74 Nuseibeh, I., 72

O'Brien, W.D., 53 Oehling, A., 41 Oguisso, T., 10, 48 Oishi, Y., 59 Olsen, E.R., 41 Orfanos, C.E., 44 Orozco, A., 54

Pace, J.L., 54
Paintal, A.S., 59
Papavassiliou, J., 79
Parel, C.P., 63
Pennington, G.W., 73
Pinus, W., 49
Pires Liberal, H.S., 56
Poeck, H.J., 48
Popescu, E., 64
Prozesky, O.W., 64
Przybylski, J., 77

Quartino, B., 55

Ramsav, D.J., 43 Regenmortel, M.H.V. van, 71 Relacion, J.R., 72 Repetto, M., 75 Rey, J., 49 Reyes, T.M., 51 Rhodes, M.L., 68 Ribari, O., 58 Roberts, D.F., 67 Robinson, D.E., 53 Rodes, J., 47 Rose, F.C., 48 Rossignol, D.M., 42 Rubio, P., 52 Rudowski, W., 63 Russell, A.S., 51 Rutishauser, W., 10, 42 Ryzewska, A., 75

Sacristan Olonso, T., 49 Salanki, J., 67 Salazar, E., 43 Sanabria, J., 71 Sangiori, M., 45 Santos-Ocampo, P.D., 49 Saukko, P.J., 47 Schaller, A., 43 Schersten, T., 65, 77 Scoggins, B.A., 62 Scoville, A. de, 10, 55 Sells, R.A., 78 Semeria, J., 61 Sergent, J., 51 Seton, F., 75 Sewering, H.J., 54 Shine K., 65 Siest, G., 68 Siewert, J.R., 69 Siim, J.C., 57 Silveira Neto C.A. da, 56 Sisk, J.E., 77 Sivanesaratnam, V., 72 Skinner, D.B., 69 Sodeman, W.A., 78 Solamito, C.C., 61 Solbakk, J.H., 10, 63

Soufi, M., 60 Soutter, J., 75 Sparks, H., 74 Starzl, T.E., 78 Stein, P.D., 68 Stein Kroser, L., 53 Stephens, S.D., 42 Stewart, G.G., 71 Strauss, J.S., 44 Streuli, R.A., 45 Strom, B., 74 Swiderski, G., 76 Szemere, G., 58

Takahashi, R., 52
Takeuchi, H., 53
Tanimoto Weki, M., 61
Tassara Albizzati, M., 66
Tilney, N.L., 78
Tongue, E., 66
Tsuchiya, K., 60
Tugwell, P., 78
Turnbull, A.J.,42
Tzivoni, L., 59

Varnai, F., 58 Ventura de Matos, A., 76 Viall, J.T., 52 Vidal, O.R., 55 Vilar Puig, P., 61 Vilardell, F., 10 Vlahov, V., 56 Voiculescu, M., 64 Voigt, M. de, 77

Wagstaff, W., 67 Walton, H.J., 47 Walton of Detchant, 48 Watanabe, I., 59 Wells, R., 55 Wiholm, B.-E., 74 Williams H., 45

Yagi, K., 70 Yamazaki, K., 43 Younes, T., 67

Zadok, M., 59 Zeiler, W.B., 73 Zillen, P.A., 44



CIOMS publications may be obtained directly from CIOMS, c/o World Health Organization, Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland. They are also distributed by the World Health Organization Distribution and Sales Unit, Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland and are available from booksellers through the network of WHO sales agents. A list of these agents may by obtained by writing to the above address.

Price: SF 10.—